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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA

THE STATE OF GEORGIA,

V. Criminal Case No.

MARK R. MEADOWS,

Defendant.

N N N N N N N N N

NOTICE OF REMOVAL

Defendant Mark R. Meadows, former Chief of Staff to the President of the
United States, removes this proceeding from the Fulton County Superior Court (Case
No. 23SC188947, filed August 14, 2023), insofar as it charges Mr. Meadows in two
counts (Counts 1 and 28) of a 41-count indictment, to the United States District Court
for the Northern District of Georgia under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1442 & 1455.

Mr. Meadows has the right to remove this matter. The conduct giving rise to
the charges in the indictment all occurred during his tenure and as part of his service
as Chief of Staff. In these circumstances, federal law provides for prompt removal
of a “criminal prosecution . . . commenced in a State court . . . against or directed to”
a federal official, “in an official or individual capacity, for or relating to any act
under color of [his] office.” 28 U.S.C. § 1442(a)(1). The removal statute “protect([s]
the Federal Government from the interference with its operations that would ensue

were a State able, for example, to arrest and bring to trial in a State court for an



Case 1:23-cv-03621-SCJ Document 1 Filed 08/15/23 Page 2 of 14

alleged offense against the law of the State, officers and agents of the Federal
Government acting within the scope of their authority.” Watson v. Philip Morris
Companies, Inc., 551 U.S. 142, 150 (2007) (cleaned up).!

Nothing Mr. Meadows is alleged in the indictment to have done is criminal
per se: arranging Oval Office meetings, contacting state officials on the President’s
behalf, visiting a state government building, and setting up a phone call for the
President. One would expect a Chief of Staff to the President of the United States to
do these sorts of things. And they have far less to do with the interests of state law
than, for example, murder charges that have been successfully removed. E.g., In Re
Neagle, 135 U.S. 1, 71 (1890); Tennessee v. Davis, 100 U.S. 257, 260-62 (1879).
This is precisely the kind of state interference in a federal official’s duties that the
Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution prohibits, and that the removal statute
shields against. See Neagle, 135 U.S. at 76 (holding that a federal official carrying
out his duties “is not liable to answer in the courts of [a State]”).

Mr. Meadows intends to file a motion to dismiss the indictment pursuant to

Rule 12(b) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure as soon as is feasible. Mr.

! Former officials are protected. The relevant question is whether the defendant was
a federal official at the time of the conduct charged, not at the time of prosecution
or removal. See State of Maryland v. Soper, 270 U.S. 9, 34-35 (1926); Camero v.
Kostos, 253 F. Supp. 331, 335 (D.N.J. 1966). Protection of former federal officials
protects current federal officials from being chilled in the exercise of their federal
duties. See, e.g., Denson v. United States, 574 F.3d 1318, 1349 (11th Cir. 2009).

2



Case 1:23-cv-03621-SCJ Document 1 Filed 08/15/23 Page 3 of 14

Meadows respectfully requests that the Court “order an evidentiary hearing to be
held promptly” and “dispos[e] of the prosecution as justice shall require.” 28 U.S.C.
§ 1455(b)(5). Here, justice requires the prompt dismissal of the charges against Mr.
Meadows. At a minimum, in the meantime, federal law requires granting removal,
which will halt the state-court proceedings against Mr. Meadows, see 28 U.S.C.
§ 1455(b)(5), while the motion to dismiss is resolved.

L. This Court Has Jurisdiction, and Removal Is Warranted

This matter—insofar as it relates to charges against Defendant Mark R.
Meadows—arises directly from his service as Chief of Staff. Mr. Meadows served
in that role from March 31, 2020, until January 20, 2021. Before that, he served as a
Member of the U.S. House of Representatives, representing North Carolina’s 11th
Congressional District, from January 3, 2013, to March 30, 2020.

The events giving rise to the indictment occurred during Mr. Meadows’s
tenure as White House Chief of Staff and are directly related to that role. The
indictment sets forth the following factual allegations (and only the following factual
allegations) as they relate to Mr. Meadows:

e “On or about the 20th day of November 2020, DONALD JOHN
TRUMP and MARK RANDALL MEADOWS met with Majority
Leader of the Michigan Senate Michael Shirkey, Speaker of the
Michigan House of Representatives Lee Chatfield, and other Michigan
legislators in the Oval Office at the White House, and DONALD
JOHN TRUMP made false statements concerning fraud in the
November 3, 2020, presidential election in Michigan.” Indictment at
20, Count I, Act 5.
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“On or about the 21st day of November 2020, MARK RANDALL
MEADOWS sent a text message to United States Representative Scott
Perry from Pennsylvania and stated, ‘Can you send me the number for
the speaker and the leader of PA Legislature. POTUS wants to chat with
them.’”” Indictment at 20, Count I, Act 6.

“On or about the 25th day of November 2020, . . . DONALD JOHN
TRUMP, MARK RANDALL MEADOWS, RUDOLPH
WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI, JENNA LYNN ELLIS and
unindicted co-conspirators Individual 5 and Individual 6, whose
identities are known to the Grand Jury, met with the group of
Pennsylvania legislators at the White House and discussed holding a

special session of the Pennsylvania General Assembly.” Indictment at
22, Count I, Act 9.

“On or between the 1st day of December 2020 and the 31st day of
December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP and MARK RANDALL
MEADOWS met with John McEntee and requested that McEntee
prepare a memorandum outlining a strategy for disrupting and delaying
the joint session of Congress on January 6, 2021, the day prescribed by
law for counting votes cast by the duly elected and qualified

presidential electors from Georgia and the other states.” Indictment at
24, Count I, Act 19.

“On or about the 22nd day of December 2020, MARK RANDALL
MEADOWS traveled to the Cobb County Civic Center in Cobb
County, Georgia, and attempted to observe the signature match audit
being performed there by law enforcement officers from the Georgia
Bureau of Investigation and the Office of the Georgia Secretary of
State, despite the fact that the audit process was not open to the public.
While present at the center, MARK RANDALL MEADOWS spoke
to Georgia Deputy Secretary of State Jordan Fuchs, Office of the
Georgia Secretary of State Chief Investigator Frances Watson, Georgia
Bureau of Investigation Special Agent in Charge Bahan Rich, and
others, who prevented MARK RANDALL MEADOWS from
entering into the space where the audit was being conducted.”
Indictment at 44, Count I, Act 92.
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e “On or about the 23rd day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN
TRUMP placed a telephone call to Office of the Georgia Secretary of
State Chief Investigator Frances Watson that had been previously
arranged by MARK RANDALL MEADOWS. During the phone call,
DONALD JOHN TRUMP falsely stated that he had won the
November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia ‘by hundreds of
thousands of votes’ and stated to Watson that ‘when the right answer
comes out you’ll be praised.”” Indictment at 44, Count I, Act 93.

e “On or about the 27th day of December 2020, MARK RANDALL
MEADOWS sent a text message to Office of the Georgia Secretary of
State Chief Investigator Frances Watson that stated in part, ‘Is there a
way to speed up Fulton county signature verification in order to have
results before Jan 6 if the trump campaign assist financially.’”
Indictment at 45, Count I, Act 96.

e “On or about the 2nd day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN
TRUMP and MARK RANDALL MEADOWS committed the felony
offense of SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH BY
PUBLIC OFFICER, in violation of O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1,
in Fulton County, Georgia, by unlawfully soliciting, requesting, and
importuning Georgia Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger, a public
officer, to engage in conduct constituting the felony offense of
Violation of Oath by Public Officer, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by unlawfully
altering, unlawfully adjusting, and otherwise unlawfully influencing
the certified returns for presidential electors for the November 3, 2020,
presidential election in Georgia, in willful and intentional violation of
the terms of the oath of said person as prescribed by law, with intent

that said person engage in said conduct.” Indictment at 50, Count I, Act
112.

e “And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens
of Georgia, do charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP and
MARK RANDALL MEADOWS with the offense of
SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH BY PUBLIC
OFFICER, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1, for the said accused,
individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime,
and together with unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton
and State of Georgia, on or about the 2nd day of January 2021,
unlawfully solicited, requested, and importuned Georgia Secretary of
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State Brad Raffensperger, a public officer, to engage in conduct
constituting the felony offense of Violation of Oath by Public Officer,
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by unlawfully altering, unlawfully adjusting, and
otherwise unlawfully influencing the certified returns for presidential
electors for the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia, in
willful and intentional violation of the terms of the oath of said person
as prescribed by law, with intent that said person engage in said
conduct, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and
dignity thereof.” Indictment at 87, Count 28.

The charged conduct comprises acts taken by Mr. Meadows, whether in an
individual or official capacity, under color of his role as Chief of Staff to the
President of the United States. See 28 U.S.C. § 1442(a)(1).

As 1s apparent on the face of the indictment, as part of his official duties as
Chief of Staff, Mr. Meadows arranged meetings for the President at the White House
and communicated with state lawmakers and officials. Mr. Meadows went to a site
in Fulton County where the Chief Investigator was conducting an audit of the results
of the 2020 Presidential election because—and only because—he was serving as
Chief of Staff. He wanted to report back to the President on how the audit was
proceeding and told him the following day that the Georgia officials were conducting
their work in exemplary fashion. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Meadows, in his role as
Chief of Staff, arranged a phone call between the President and Georgia officials,
including the Secretary of State and the Chief Investigator. These and the other acts
that form the basis for the charges against Mr. Meadows all fall squarely within his

conduct as Chief of Staff.
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Defendant Meadows has defenses to the charges in this Georgia indictment
that arise under federal law, including a federal immunity defense under the
Supremacy Clause of the Federal Constitution. See U.S. CONST., art. vi, cl. 2; Neagle,
135 U.S. at 57; Kordash v. United States, 51 F.4th 1289, 1293 (11th Cir. 2022);
Denson v. United States, 574 F.3d 1318, 134546 (11th Cir. 2009).

For purposes of removal under 28 U.S.C. § 1442(a)(1), it is enough that the
defendant has a “plausible” federal defense to the charges against him. Caver v.
Cent. Alabama Elec. Coop., 845 F.3d 1135, 1145 (11th Cir. 2017). Here, the charges
against Mr. Meadows far exceed that low threshold. Indeed, as explained below, it
is clear from the face of the indictment that the charges against Mr. Meadows should
be dismissed under the Supremacy Clause. But for purposes of removal, the Court
need not make that determination. Mr. Meadows is entitled to remove this action to
federal court because the charges against him plausibly give rise to a federal defense
based on his role at all relevant times as the White House Chief of Staff to the
President of the United States.

II.  This Notice Satisfies the Procedural Requirements of 28 U.S.C. § 1455

Consistent with the requirements of 28 U.S.C. § 1455, Mr. Meadows is filing
this notice before trial and no later than 30 days after arraignment, and the grounds
for removal are set forth herein. See id. § 1455(b)(1)—(2). This notice is filed in the

district and division within which is prosecution is pending, it is signed by counsel
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pursuant to Rule 11 of the Civil Rules, and it contains a short and plain statement of
the grounds for removal. See id. § 1455(a). No process, pleadings, or orders have yet
been served upon Mr. Meadows in this action, see id., but this notice also includes
as an attachment the publicly filed indictment, which sets forth the charges against
Mr. Meadows and other defendants. While removal can be initiated later in the
criminal process, the filing of an indictment has “commence[d]” for a “criminal
prosecution in State court,” id., at the time of indictment, triggering the right to
removal. See, e.g., Post v. United States, 161 U.S. 583, 587 (1896) (explaining that
a criminal proceeding commences once “a formal charge is openly made against the
accused, either by indictment presented or information filed in court, or, at the least,
by complaint before a magistrate™).

III. The Court Should Promptly Hold an Evidentiary Hearing and Either

Dismiss the Charges Outright, or at a Minimum, Grant Removal and
Notify the State Court

The filing of this notice does not automatically stay the state court proceedings
against Mr. Meadows, “except that a judgment of conviction shall not be entered”
while this notice remains pending. /d. § 1455(b)(3). Mr. Meadows respectfully asks
that the Court promptly hold an evidentiary hearing and either dismiss the charges
outright based on the Supremacy Clause, or at a minimum, grant removal and notify
the state court so as to halt any further state-court proceedings against him. See id.

§ 1455(b)(5). Section 1455(b)(5) provides that, if the Court “does not order the
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summary remand of [a removed] prosecution”—which would be wholly unjustified
here—then “it shall order an evidentiary hearing to be held promptly and, after such
hearing, shall make disposition of the prosecution as justice shall require.” /d.

Mr. Meadows respectfully submits that the most just disposition is for the
charges against him to be promptly dismiss pursuant to the Supremacy Clause. The
basis for that conclusion is apparent from the facts of the case and the face of the
indictment.? Even if the Court is not prepared to dismiss outright at this early stage,
however, justice requires granting removal and halting any further state-court
proceedings against Mr. Meadows. That will allow for the timely consideration of
Mr. Meadows’s defenses, including his federal defense under the Supremacy Clause,
without requiring him to defend himself in state court simultaneously.

First, the Court should “promptly . . . make disposition of the prosecution as
justice shall require,” 28 U.S.C. § 1455(b)(5), by dismissing all charges against Mr.
Meadows—the Chief of Staff to the President of the United States at the time of the
alleged conduct—under the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution. The
Supremacy Clause provides that “[t]his Constitution, and the Laws of the United
States which shall be made in Pursuance thereof . . . shall be the supreme Law of the

Land; and the Judges in every State shall be bound thereby, anything in the

2 Mr. Meadows will submit a separate motion to dismiss at a later date which more
fully sets forth the facts and the law supporting dismissal.

9
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constitution or laws of any state to the contrary notwithstanding.” U.S. CONST., art.
VI, cl. 2. The Supreme Court has long interpreted the Supremacy Clause to provide
federal officials “immunity from suit” involving state charges in order to “protect|]
federal operations from the chilling effect of state prosecution.” New York v. Tanella,
374 F.3d 141, 147 (2nd Cir. 2004); see generally In Re Neagle, 135 U.S. 1 (1890);
Tennessee v. Davis, 100 U.S. 257 (1879). “[ T]he states have no power . . . to retard,
impede, burden, or in any manner control, the operations of the constitutional laws
enacted by congress to carry into execution the powers vested in the general
government.” McCulloch v. Maryland, 17 U.S. (4 Wheat.) 316, 436 (1819). Thus,
while the police power, including the power to define and punish crimes, is generally
reserved to the States, that power may not be employed against the Federal
Government to “exclude it from the exercise of any authority conferred upon it by
the constitution, obstruct its authorized officers against its will, or withhold from it
for a moment the cognizance of any subject which that instrument has committed to

it.” Neagle, 135 U.S. at 62 (quoting Davis, 100 U.S. at 263).3

3 Since Neagle, the Supreme Court has addressed Supremacy Clause immunity only
rarely. The two most notable decisions came within 20 years of Neagle.

In Ohio v. Thomas, 173 U.S. 276 (1899), the Court held that Ohio could not
prosecute a federal official for serving margarine in a home for disabled veterans
without placing a sign in the window, as required under Ohio law. The Court held
that Congress had appropriated money to buy the margarine, and that serving it “was
therefore legal, any act of the state to the contrary notwithstanding,” under the
Supremacy Clause. /d. at 283—84.

10
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States are thus broadly prohibited from bringing ““suits under state law against
federal officials carrying out their executive duties.” Kordash, 51 F.4th at 1293; see
also Denson, 574 F.3d at 1345-46 (“[T]he Supremacy Clause . . . serves to prevent
state law or state law officials from interfering with or otherwise impeding federal
officers as they perform their lawful duties.”). Federal-officer immunity has been
widely recognized and applied robustly, including in cases from the Second, Fifth,
Sixth, Ninth, Tenth, and Eleventh Circuits.*

(133

A federal official is entitled to immunity if he “‘was authorized to do [what
he did] by the law of the United States,”” if “‘it was his duty to do [it] as [an officer]
of the United States,”” and if “‘in doing that act he did no more than what was

necessary and proper for him to do.”” Denson, 574 F.3d at 1347 (quoting Neagle,

135 U.S. at 57) (alterations in original). At a general level, the inquiry turns on

In United States ex rel. Drury v. Lewis, 200 U.S. 1 (1906), the Court affirmed a

denial of immunity for soldiers being prosecuted for murder. There was conflicting
testimony about whether the fatal shots were fired in hot pursuit of a suspected
thief—or instead whether one soldier ordered, and the other soldier carried out, the
execution of a civilian who had already surrendered to their pursuit. See id. at 3-5.
The Court held that pre-trial immunity was unavailable in light of this “conflict of
evidence” because it had been “conceded that if [the soldiers had executed the man
after he surrendered], it could not reasonably be claimed that the fatal shot was fired
in the performance of a duty imposed by the Federal law.” Id. at 8.
* See New York v. Tanella, 374 F.3d 141, 144 (2d Cir. 2004); State v. Kleinert, 855
F.3d 305, 313 (5th Cir. 2017); Com. of Ky. v. Long, 837 F.2d 727, 734 (6th Cir.
1988); Clifton v. Cox, 549 F.2d 722, 728 (9th Cir. 1977); Wyoming v. Livingston,
443 F.3d 1211, 1217 (10th Cir. 2006); Baucom v. Martin, 677 F.2d 1346, 1348 (11th
Cir. 1982).

11
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“whether the officer’s acts have some nexus with furthering federal policy and can
reasonably be characterized as complying with the full range of federal law.” Id. at
1348. While the phrase “no more than necessary” might suggest a narrow scope of
immunity, that is not how the Courts of Appeals have applied it. They unanimously
agree that federal authority under Neagle is a question of the official’s general role
and authority, not specific authorization for the conduct that allegedly constitutes a
criminal act.’

Here, it is unmistakably clear that the indictment charges Mr. Meadows with
alleged state crimes based on acts he took as Chief of Staff to the President of the
United States and in the course of his duties in the position. See generally supra Part
I. He is therefore entitled to immunity from suit under the Supremacy Clause, and in
order to “make disposition of the prosecution as justice shall require,” 28 U.S.C.

§ 1455(b)(5), the Court should dismiss all charges against Mr. Meadows.

> See Tanella, 374 F.3d at 147 (“No one disputes that Tanella was acting in his
capacity as a federal DEA Agent when he shot Dewgard.”); Kleinert, 855 F.3d at
317 (“With probable cause of two federal felonies, Kleinert was authorized to arrest
Jackson under 21 U.S.C. § 878.”); Long, 837 F.2d at 745 (“[E]ven though an agent
exceeds his express authority, he does not necessarily act outside of the authority
conferred by the laws of the United States.”); Clifton, 549 F.2d at 728 (“[E]ven
though his acts may have exceeded his express authority, this did not necessarily
strip petitioner of his lawful power to act under the scope of authority given to him
under the laws of the United States.”); Livingston, 443 F.3d at 1227-28 (“The
question is not whether federal law expressly authorizes violation of state law, but
whether the federal official’s conduct was reasonably necessary for the performance
of his duties.”); Baucom, 677 F.2d at 1350 (“In Neagle, it was held that the necessary
authority could be derived from the general scope of the officer’s duties.”).

12
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Second, even if the Court is not prepared to rule summarily on Mr. Meadows’s
Supremacy Clause immunity, it should at a minimum promptly accept removal in
order to stay the state-court proceedings against Mr. Meadows. By statute, the Court
is directed “promptly” to consider whether to accept removal, see 28 U.S.C.
§ 1455(b)(5), and whenever the court “determines that removal shall be permitted,
it shall so notify the State court . . . which shall proceed no further,” id. § 1455(c).
Mr. Meadows’s entitlement to removal is clear and does not turn on any disputed
facts. The standard for removal, moreover, is even easier to meet than the standard
for asserting a substantive federal defense. See Caver, 845 F.3d at 1145 (explaining
that removal under § 1442 was proper where the defendant’s federal defense was
“plausible” and then separately analyzing the actual merits of that defense).

Prompt acceptance is also important to stay the state-court proceedings. The
Supremacy Clause provides “immunity from suit rather than a mere shield against
liability.” Tanella, 374 F.3d at 147. The issue should be “decided early in the
proceedings so as to avoid requiring a federal officer to run the gauntlet of standing
trial and having to wait until later to have the immunity issue decided.” /d. (cleaned
up). Requiring Mr. Meadows to litigate his defenses in parallel in state court would
inflict the very injury that Supremacy Clause immunity protects against—both for
Mr. Meadows’s own sake and for the sake of other federal officials who might be

chilled by the prospect of their own state-court prosecution.

13
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The Court should promptly dismiss the charges against Mr. Meadows, or at a

minimum, accept removal so as to stay the state-court proceedings.

Dated: August 15, 2023 Respectfully submitted,

MARK R. MEADOWS
By Counsel

Joseph M. Englert
McGUIREWOODS LLP

1230 Peachtree St., N.E., Suite 2100
Georgia Bar No. 112409

Atlanta, GA 30309

(404) 443-5500
jenglert@mcguirewoods.com

George J. Terwilliger, I11*

John S. Moran*

Michael Francisco*
MCGUIREWOODS LLP

888 16th Street NW, Suite 500
Washington, DC 20006

(202) 857-1700
gterwilliger@mcguirewoods.com
jmoran@mcguirewoods.com
mfrancisco@mcguirewoods.com

* Application for admission pro hac
vice forthcoming
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Fulton County Superior Court

INDICTMENT

EDis Meabee

**FILED*+CA ,
Date: August 14, 2023

Che Alexander, Clerk of Court

Clerk No. JASC/SETH T

FULTON SUPERIOR COURT

THE STATE OF GEORGIA
V.

DONALD JOHN TRUMP
Counts 1, 5,9, 11, 13, 15, 17, 19,
27-29, 38-39

RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI

Counts 1-3, 6-7, 9, 11, 13, 15, 17, 19,
23-24

JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN
Counts 1-2, 9, 11, 13, 15, 17, 19, 27

MARK RANDALL MEADOWS
Counts 1, 28

KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO
Counts 1,9, 11, 13, 15,17, 19

JEFFREY BOSSERT CLARK
Counts 1, 22

JENNA LYNN ELLIS
Counts 1-2

RAY STALLINGS SMITH III
Counts 1-2,4, 6,9, 11, 13,15, 17, 19,
23,25

ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY
Counts 1,9, 11, 13, 15, 17, 19, 23, 26,
41

MICHAEL A. ROMAN
Counts 1,9, 11, 13, 15, 17, 19

DAVID JAMES SHAFER
Counts 1, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 40

10

11

VIOLATION OF THE GEORGIA RICO
(RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT
ORGANIZATIONS) ACT

0.C.G.A. § 16-14-4(c)

SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH
BY PUBLIC OFFICER
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1

FALSE STATEMENTSl AND WRITINGS
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20

FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20

SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH
BY PUBLIC OFFICER
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1

SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH
BY PUBLIC OFFICER
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1

FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20

IMPERSONATING A PUBLIC OFFICER
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-23

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT
IMPERSONATING A PUBLIC OFFICER
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8 & 16-10-23

FORGERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE
0.C.G.A. § 16-9-1(b)

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT
FORGERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8 & 16-9-1(b)
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SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL
Counts 1, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18

STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE
Counts 1, 20-21, 30-31

HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT
FLOYD
Counts 1, 30-31

TREVIAN C. KUTTI
Counts 1, 30-31

SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL
Counts 1, 32-37

CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM
Counts 1, 8, 10, 12, 14, 32-37

SCOTT GRAHAM HALL
Counts 1, 32-37

MISTY HAMPTON .
AKA EMILY MISTY HAYES
Counts 1, 32-37

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT
FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS
O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8 & 16-10-20

CRIMINAL ATTEMPT TO COMMIT
FILING FALSE DOCUMENTS
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-1 & 16-10-20.1(b)(1)

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT
FILING FALSE DOCUMENTS
O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8 & 16-10-20.1(b)(1)

FORGERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE
0.C.G.A. § 16-9-1(b)

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT
FORGERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8 & 16-9-1(b)

FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT
FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8 & 16-10-20

CRIMINAL ATTEMPT TO COMMIT
INFLUENCING WITNESSES
O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-1 & 16-10-93(b)(1)(A)

CRIMINAL ATTEMPT TO COMMIT
INFLUENCING WITNESSES
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-1 & 16-10-93(b)(1)(A)

CRIMINAL ATTEMPT TO COMMIT
FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-1 & 16-10-20

SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH
BY PUBLIC OFFICER
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1

FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20
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Attorney for Defendant Attorney for Defendant Attorney for Defendant
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Assistant District Attorney

This day of ,
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STATE OF GEORGIA, COUNTY OF FULTON
IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAID COUNTY

THE GRAND JURORS, selected, chosen, and sworn for the County of Fulton, to wit:

1. ROBERT WELLS, Foreperson 14. GREGORY PETRALIA

2. ASHLEY MELVIN, Asst. FP 15. JENNIFER PRICE
ITCTARISSABRYAN -Sesratary~ 16. GEORGE PRINGLE

4. JULIA DECREDICO, Asst. Sec. 17. PAVAN PULAVARTY

5. ERLE ARNOLD 18. FRANEEN SARIF

6. DANIELLE BROWN 19. EMMA ST. JOHN

7. CAROL DICK 20. VLADIMIR TCHAKAROV
8. KATHY GOLD 21. CEDRIC TRICE

9. WILLIS HARDY 22, ESTHER UDOIJI

10. BRENDA HART 23. MARCUS WELBORN
11. ANTIONETTE HUDSON 24T TASIVINE-EASTRE-

12, [LE LIN 25. KATHLEEN CHEN

13. MAX MORTENSEN 26-CARISTOPHER SUTTON-
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COUNT 1 of 41

The Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do hereby
charge and accuse: -

DONALD JOHN TRUMP,
RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI,
JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN,
MARK RANDALL MEADOWS,
KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO,
JEFFREY BOSSERT CLARK,
JENNA LYNN ELLIS,

RAY STALLINGS SMITH I1I,
ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY,
MICHAEL A. ROMAN,

DAVID JAMES SHAFER,
SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL,
STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE,
HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD,
TREVIAN C. KUTTI,

SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL,
CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM,
SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and
MISTY HAMPTON

with the offense of VIOLATION OF THE GEORGIA RICO (RACKETEER
INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS) ACT, O.C.G.A. § 16-14-4(c), for the
said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and together
with unindicted co-conspirators, in the State of Georgia and County of Fulton, on and between
the 4th day of November 2020 and the 15th day of September 2022, while associated with an
enterprise, unlawfully conspired and endeavored to conduct and participate in, directly and
indirectly, such enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity in violation of O.C.G.A. §
16-14-4(b), as described below and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, contrary
to the laws of said State, the good order, peace, and dignity thereof;

13
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INTRODUCTION

Defendant Donald John Trump lost the United States presidential election held on
November 3, 2020. One of the states he lost was Georgia. Trump and the other Defendants
charged in this Indictment refused to accept that Trump lost, and they knowingly and willfully
joined a conspiracy to unlawfully change the outcome of the election in favor of Trump. That
conspiracy contained a common plan and purpose to commit two or more acts of racketeering

activity in Fulton County, Georgia, elsewhere in the State of Georgia, and in other states.
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THE ENTERPRISE

At all times relevant to this Count of the Indictment, the Defendants, as well as others not
named as defendants, unlawfully conspired and endeavored to conduct and participate in a
criminal enterprise in Fulton County, Georgia, and elsewhere. Defendants Donald John Trump,
Rudolph William Louis Giuliani, John Charles Eastman, Mark Randall Meadows, Kenneth John
Chesebro, Jeffrey Bossert Clark, Jenna Lynn Ellis, Ray Stallings Smith I1I, Robert David
Cheeley, Michael A. Roman, David James Shafer, Shawn Micah Tresher Still, Stephen Cliffgard
Lee, Harrison William Prescott Floyd, Tfevian C. Kutti, Sidney Katherine Powell, Cathleen
Alston Latham, Scott Graham Hall, Misty Hampton, unindicted co-conspirators Individual 1
through Individual 30, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, constituted a criminal
organization whose members and associates engaged in various related criminal activities
including, but not limited to, false statements and writings, impersonating a public officer,
forgery, filing false documents, influencing witnesses, computer theft, computer trespass,
computer invasion of privacy, conspiracy to defraud the state, acts involving theft, and perjury.

This criminal organization constituted an enterprise as that term is defined in O.C.G.A. §
16-14-3(3), that is, a group of individuals associated in fact. The Defendants and other members
and associates of the enterprise had cox.lﬁections and relationships with one another and with the
enterprise. The enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose members and associates
functioned as a continuing unit for a common purpose of achieving the objectives of the
enterprise. The enterprise operated in Fulton County, Georgia, elsewhere in the State of Georgia,
in other states, including, but not limited to, Arizona, Michigan, Nevada, New Mexico,
Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin, and in the District of Columbia. The enterprise operated for a

period of time sufficient to permit its members and associates to pursue its objectives.
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MANNER AND METHODS OF THE ENTERPRISE

The manner and methods used by the Defendants and other members and associates of
the enterprise to further the goals of the enterprise and to achieve its purposes included, but were
not limited to, the following:

1. False Statements to and Solicitation of State Legislatures

Members of the enterprise, including several of the Defendants, appeared at hearings in
Fulton County, Georgia, before members of the Georgia General Assembly on December 3,
2020, December 10, 2020, and December 30, 2020. At these hearings, members of the enterprise
made false statements concerning fraud in the November 3, 2020, presidential election. The
purpose of these false statements was to persuade Georgia legislators to reject lawful electoral
votes cast by the duly elected and qualified presidential electors from Georgia. Members of the
enterprise corruptly solicited Georgia legislators instead to unlawfully appoint their own
presidential electors for the purpose of casting electoral votes for Donald Trump. Members of the
enterprise also made false statements to state legislators during hearings and meetings in
Arizpna, Michigan, and Pennsylvania in November and December 2020 to persuade legislators
in those states to unlawfully appoint their own presidential electors.

2. False Statements to and Solicitation of High-Ranking State Officials

Members of the enterprise, including several of the Defendants, made false statements in
Fulton County and elsewhere in the State of Georgia to Georgia officials, including the
Governor, the Secretary of State, and the Speaker of the House of Representati\}es. Members of
the enterprise also corruptly solicited Georgia officials, including the Secretary of State and the
Speaker of the House of Representatives, to violate their oaths to the Georgia Constitution and to

the United States Constitution by unlawfully changing the outcome of the November 3, 2020,
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presidential election in Georgia in favor of Donald Trump. Members of the enterprise also made
false statements to and solicited state officials in Arizona, Michigan, and Pennsylvania.

3. Creation and Distribution of False Electoral College Documents

Members of the enterprise, including several of the Defendants, created false Electoral
College documents and recruited individuals to convene and cast false Electoral College votes at
the Georgia State Capitol, in Fulton County, on December 14, 2020. After the false Electoral
College votes were cast, members of the enterprise transmitted the votes to the President of the
United States Senate, the Archivist of the United States, the Georgia Secretary of State, and the
Chief Judge of the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia. The false
documents were intended to disrupt and delay the joint session of Congress on January 6, 2021,
in order to unlawfully change the outconie of the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
favor of Donald Trump. Similar schemes were executed by members of the enterprise in Arizona,
Michigan, Nevada, New Mexico, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin.

4. Harassment and Intimidation of Fulton County Election Worker Ruby Freeman

Members of the enterprise, including several of the Defendants, falsely accused Fulton
County election worker Ruby Freeman of committing election crimes in Fulton County, Georgia.
These false accusations were repeated to Georgia legislators and other Georgia officials in an
effort to persuade them to unlawfully change the outcome of the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in favor of Donald Trump. In furtherance of this scheme, members of the enterprise
traveled from out of state to harass Freeman, intimidate her, and solicit her to falsely confess to

election crimes that she did not commit.
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5. Solicitation of High-Ranking United States Department of Justice Officials

Members of the enterprise, including several of the Defendants, corruptly solicited high-
ranking United States Department of Justice officials to make false statements to government
officials in Fulton County, Georgia, including the Governor, the Speaker of the House of
Representatives, and the President Pro Tempore of the Senate. In one instance, Donald Trump
stated to the Acting United States Attorney General, “Just say that the election was corrupt, and
leave the rest to me and the Republican congressmen.” |

6. Solicitation of the Vice President of the United States

Members of the enterprise, including several of the Defendants, corruptly solicited the
Vice President of the United States to violate the United States Constitution and federal law by
unlawfully rejecting Electoral College votes cast in Fulton County, Georgia, by the duly elected
and qualified presidential elect(;rs from Georgia. Members of the enterprise also corruptly
solicited the Vice President to reject votes cast by the duly elected and qualified presidential
electors from several other states.

7. Unlawful Breach of Election Equipment in Georgia and Elsewhere

Members of the enterprise, including several of the Defendants, corruptly conspired in
Fulton County, Georgia, and elsewhere to unlawfully access secure voting equipment and voter
data. In Georgia, members of the enterprise stole data, including ballot images, voting equipment
software, and personal voter information. The stolen data was then distributed to other members

of the enterprise, including members in other states.
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8. Obstructive Acts in Furtherance of the Conspiracy and the Cover Up

Members of the enterprise, including several of the Defendants, filed false documents,
made false statements to government investigators, and committed perjury in judicial
proceedings in Fulton County, Georgia, and elsewhere in furtherance of and to cover up the

conspiracy.
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ACTS OF RACKETEERING ACTIVITY AND
OVERT ACTS IN FURTHERANCE OF THE CONSPIRACY

As part of and on behalf of the criminal enterprise detailed above, the Defendants and
other members and associates of the enterprise committed overt acts to effect the objectives of

the enterprise, including but not limited to:
Act 1.

On or about the 4th day of November 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP made a
nationally televised speech falsely declaring victory in the 2020 presidential election.
Approximately four days earlier, on or about October 31, 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP
discussed a draft speech with unindicted co-conspirator Individual 1, whose identity is known to
the Grand Jury, that falsely declared victory and falsely claimed voter fraud. The speech was an
overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act2.

On or about the 15th day of November 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI placed a telephone call to unindicted co-conspirator Individual 2, whose identity is
known to the Grand Jury, and left an approximately 83-second-long voicemail message for
unindicted co-conspirator Individual 2 making statements concerning fraud in the November 3,
2020, election in Fulton County, Georgia. This telephone call was an overt act in furtherance of
the conspiracy.

Act2.

On or about the 19th day of November 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI, JENNA LYNN ELLIS, SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL, and unindicted co-
conspirator Individual 3, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, appeared at a press
conference at the Republican National Committee Headquarters on behalf of DONALD JOHN
TRUMP and Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. (the “Trump Campaign”) and made false
statements concerning fraud in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia and
elsewhere. These were overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Actd.

On or about the 20th day of November 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER sent an e-mail
to unindicted co-conspirator Individual 4, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, and other
individuals. In the e-mail, DAVID JAMES SHAFER stated that SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, a
Georgia bail bondsman, “has been looking into the election on behalf of the President at the
request of David Bossie” and asked unindicted co-conspirator Individual 4 to exchange contact
information with SCOTT GRAHAM HALL and to “help him as needed.” This was an overt act
in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 5,

On or about the 20th day of November 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP and MARK
RANDALL MEADOWS met with Majority Leader of the Michigan Senate Michael Shirkey,
Speaker of the Michigan House of Representatives Lee Chatfield, and other Michigan legislators
in the Oval Office at the White House, and DONALD JOHN TRUMP made false statements
concerning fraud in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Michigan. RUDOLPH
WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI joined the meeting by telephone. This meeting was an overt act
in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 6.

On or about the 21st day of November 2020, MARK RANDALL MEADOWS sent a
text message to United States Representative Scott Perry from Pennsylvania and stated, “Can
you send me the number for the speaker and the leader of PA Legislature. POTUS wants to chat
with them.” This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 7.

On or about the 22nd day of November 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP and
RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI placed a telephone call to Speaker of the Arizona
House of Representatives Russell “Rusty” Bowers. During the telephone call, RUDOLPH
WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI made false statements concerning fraud in the November 3,
2020, presidential election in Arizona and solicited, requested, and importuned Bowers to
unlawfully appoint presidential electors from Arizona. Bowers declined and later testified to the
United States House of Representatives Select Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack
on the United States Capitol that he told DONALD JOHN TRUMP, “I would not break my
oath.” The false statements and solicitations were overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 8.

On or about the 25th day of November 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI and JENNA LYNN ELLIS appeared, spoke, and presented witnesses at a meeting
of Pennsylvania legislators in Gettysburg, Pennsylvania. During the meeting, RUDOLPH
WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI made false statements concerning fraud in the November 3,
2020, presidential election in Pennsylvania and solicited, requested, and importuned the
Pennsylvania legislators present at the meeting to unlawfully appoint presidential electors from
Pennsylvania. During the meeting, JENNA LYNN ELLIS solicited, requested, and importuned
the Pennsylvania legislators present at the meeting to unlawfully appoint presidential electors
from Pennsylvania. DONALD JOHN TRUMP joined the meeting by telephone, made false
statements concerning fraud in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Pennsylvania, and
solicited, requested, and importuned the Pennsylvania legislators present at the meeting to
unlawfully appoint presidential electors from Pennsylvania. These were overt acts in furtherance
of the conspiracy.
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Act 9.

On or about the 25th day of November 2020, immediately after the meeting of
Pennsylvania legislators in Gettysburg, Pennsylvania, where RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI and JENNA LYNN ELLIS appeared, spoke, and presented witnesses, DONALD
JOHN TRUMP invited a group of the Pennsylvania legislators and others to meet with him at
the White House. Later that day, DONALD JOHN TRUMP, MARK RANDALL
MEADOWS, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI, JENNA LYNN ELLIS and
unindicted co-conspirators Individual 5 and Individual 6, whose identities are known to the
Grand Jury, met with the group of Pennsylvania legislators at the White House and discussed
holding a special session of the Pennsylvania General Assembly. These were overt acts in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 10.

On or about the 26th day of November 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI and JENNA LYNN ELLIS placed a telephone call to Speaker of the Pennsylvania
House of Representatives Bryan Cutler and left Cutler a voicemail message for the purpose of
soliciting, requesting, and importuning him to unlawfully appoint presidential electors from
Pennsylvania. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 11.

On or about the 26th day of November 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI placed a telephone call to President Pro Tempore of the Pennsylvania Senate Jacob
“Jake” Corman for the purpose of soliciting, requesting, and importuning Corman to unlawfully
appoint presidential electors from Pennsylvania. This was an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy. ' ’

Act 12,

On or about the 27th day of November 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI and JENNA LYNN ELLIS placed a telephone call to Speaker of the Pennsylvania
House of Representatives Bryan Cutler and left Cutler a voicemail message for the purpose of
soliciting, requesting, and importuning him to unlawfully appoint presidential electors from
Pennsylvania. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 12,

On or about the 27th day of November 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI and JENNA LYNN ELLIS placed a telephone call to President Pro Tempore of the
Pennsylvania Senate Jake Corman for the purpose of soliciting, requesting, and importuning
Corman to unlawfully appoint presidential electors from Pennsylvania. This was an overt act in

furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 14,

On or about the 27th day of November 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP placed a
telephone call to President Pro Tempore of the Pennsylvania Senate Jake Corman for the purpose
of soliciting, requesting, and importuning Corman to unlawfully appoint presidential electors
from Pennsylvania. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 15.

N
On or about the 28th day of November 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIJANI placed a telephone call to Speaker of the Pennsylvania House of Representatives
Bryan Cutler and left Cutler a voicemail message for the purpose of soliciting, requesting, and
importuning him to unlawfully appoint presidential electors from Pennsylvania. This was an
overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 16.

On or about the 29th day of November 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI placed a telephone call to Speaker of the Pennsylvania House of Representatives
Bryan Cutler and left Cutler a voicemail message for the purpose of soliciting, requesting, and
importuning him to unlawfully appoint presidential electors from Pennsylvania. This was an
overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act17.

" On or about the 30th day of November 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI and JENNA LYNN ELLIS appeared, spoke, and presented witnesses at a meeting
of Arizona legislators in Phoenix, Arizona. Unindicted co-conspirators Individual 5 and
Individual 6, whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, were also present. During the
meeting, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI made false statements concerning fraud
in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Arizona and solicited, requested, and
importuned the Arizona legislators present at the meeting to unlawfully appoint presidential
electors from Arizona. During the meeting, JENNA LYNN ELLIS solicited, requested, and
importuned the Arizona legislators present at the meeting to unlawfully appoint presidential
electors from Arizona. DONALD JOHN TRUMP joined the meeting by telephone and made
false statements concerning fraud in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Arizona.
These were overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 18.

On or about the 30th day of November 2020, MICHAEL A. ROMAN instructed
unindicted co-conspirator Individual 7, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to coordinate
with individuals associated with the Trump Campaign to contact state legislators in Georgia and
elsewhere on behalf of DONALD JOHN TRUMP and to encourage them to unlawfully appoint
presidential electors from their respective states. This was an overt act in furtherance of the

conspiracy.
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Act 19.

On or between the 1st day of December 2020 and the 31st day of December 2020,
DONALD JOHN TRUMP and MARK RANDALL MEADOWS met with John McEntee and
requested that McEntee prepare a memorandum outlining a strategy for disrupting and delaying
the joint session of Congress on January 6, 2021, the day prescribed by law for counting votes
cast by the duly elected and qualified presidential electors from Georgia and the other states. The
strategy included having Vice President Michael R. “Mike” Pence count only half of the electoral
votes from certain states and then return the remaining electoral votes to state legislatures. The
request was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 20.

On or about the 1st day of December 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI and JENNA LYNN ELLIS met with Speaker of the Arizona House of
Representatives Rusty Bowers, President of the Arizona Senate Karen Fann, and other Arizona
legislators in Phoenix, Arizona. Unindicted co-conspirator Individual 5, whose identity is known
to the Grand Jury, was also present. During the meeting, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI made false statements concerning fraud in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in Arizona and solicited, requested, and importuned the legislators present to call a
special session of the Arizona State Legislature. These were overt acts in furtherance of the
conspiracy.

Act 21.

On or about the 2nd day of December 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI and JENNA LYNN ELLIS appeared, spoke, and presented witnesses at a meeting
of the Michigan House of Representatives Oversight Committee. During the meeting,
RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI made false statements concerning fraud in the
November 3, 2020, presidential election in Michigan and solicited, requested, and importuned
the Michigan legislators present at the meeting to unlawfully appoint presidential electors from
Michigan. During the meeting, JENNA LYNN ELLIS solicited, requested, and importuned the
Michigan legislators present at the meeting to unlawfully appoint presidential electors from
Michigan. These were overt-acts in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 22.
On or about the 3rd day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be

tweeted from the Twitter account @RealDonaldTrump, “Georgia hearings now on @OANN.
Amazing!” This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 23.

On or about the 3rd day of December 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI, JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN, JENNA LYNN ELLIS, and RAY STALLINGS
SMITH III committed the felony offense of SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH
BY PUBLIC OFFICER, in violation of O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1, in Fulton County,
Georgia, by unlawfully soliciting, requesting, and importuning certain public officers then
serving as elected members of the Georgia Senate and present at a Senate Judiciary
Subcommittee meeting, including unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8, whose identity is
known to the Grand Jury, Senators Lee Anderson, Brandon Beach, Matt Brass, Greg Dolezal,
Steve Gooch, Tyler Harper, Bill Heath, Jen Jordan, John F. Kennedy, William Ligon, Elena
Parent, Michael Rhett, Carden Summers, and Blake Tillery, to engage in conduct constituting the
felony offense of Violation of Oath by Public Officer, 0.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by unlawfully
appomtmg presidential electors from Georgia, in willful and intentional violation of the terms of
the oath of said persons as prescribed by law, with intent that said persons engage in said
conduct. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 24.

On or about the 3rd day of December 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI committed the felony offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in
violation of 0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and
unlawfully making at least one of the following false statements and representations to members
of the Georgia Senate present at a Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting:

1. That at least 96,600 mail-in ballots were counted in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in Georgia, despite there being no record of those ballots having been returned to

a county elections office;

2. That Dominion Voting Systems equipment used in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in Antrim County, Michigan, mistakenly recorded 6,000 votes for Joseph R.
Biden when the votes were actually cast for Donald John Trump;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-
14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 25.

On or about the 3rd day of December 2020, RAY STALLINGS SMITH III committed
the felony offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in violation of O.C.G.A. §
16-10-20, in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully making at least
one of the following false statements and representations to members of the Georgia Senate
present at a Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting:

1. That 2,506 felons voted illegally in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia;

2. That 66,248 underage people illegally registered to vote before their seventeenth birthday
prior to the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia;

3. That at least 2,423 people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia who were not listed as registered to vote;

4. That 1,043 people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia who
had illegally registered to vote using a post office box;

5. That 10,315 or more dead people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia;

6. That Fulton County election workers at State Farm Arena ordered poll watchers and
members of the media to leave the tabulation area on the night of November 3, 2020, and
continued to operate after ordering everyone to leave;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-
14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 26.

On or about the 3rd day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be
tweeted from the Twitter account @RealDonaldTrump, “Wow! Blockbuster testimony taking
place right now in Georgia. Ballot stuffing by Dems when Republicans were forced to leave the
large counting room. Plenty more coming, but this alone leads to an easy win of the State!” This
was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 27.

On or about the 3rd day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be
tweeted from the Twitter account @RealDonaldTrump, “People in Georgia got caught cold
bringing in massive numbers of ballots and putting them in ‘voting’ machines. Great job
@BrianKempGA!” This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 28.

On or about the 3rd day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP met with
Speaker of the Pennsylvania House of Representatives Bryan Cutler in the Oval Office at the
White House and discussed holding a special session of the Pennsylvania General Assembly.
This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 29.

On or between the 3rd day of December 2020 and the 26th day of December 2020,
RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI placed a telephone call to President Pro Tempore
of the Georgia Senate Cecil Terrell “Butch” Miller for the purpose of making false statements
concerning fraud in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia. This was an overt
act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 30.

On or between the 3rd day of December 2020 and the 26th day of December 2020,
DONALD JOHN TRUMP placed a telephone call to President Pro Tempore of the Georgia
Senate Butch Miller. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 31.

On or about the 5th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP placed a
telephone call to Georgia Governor Brian Kemp and solicited, requested, and importuned Kemp
to call a special session of the Georgia General Assembly. This was an overt act in furtherance of

the conspiracy.

Act 32.

On or about the 6th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be
tweeted from the Twitter account @RealDonaldTrump, “Gee, what a surprise. Has anyone
informed the so-called (says he has no power to do anything!) Governor @BrianKempGA & his
puppet Lt. Governor @GeoffDuncanGA, that they could easily solve this mess, & WIN.
Signature verification & call a Special Session. So easy! https://t.co/5¢b4QdYzpU.” This was an
overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 33,

On or about the 6th day of December 2020, SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL entered
into a written engagement agreement with SullivanStrickler LLC, a forensic data firm located in
Fulton County, Georgia, for the performance of computer forensic collections and analytics on
Dominion Voting Systems equipment in Michigan and elsewhere. The unlawful breach of
election equipment in Coffee County, Georgia, was subsequently performed under this
agreement. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 34,

On or about the 6th day of December 2020, ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY sent an e-
mail to JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN, unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8, whose identity
is known to the Grand Jury, and Georgia Senator Brandon Beach that stated, “I am working on
setting up a call for you with the Speaker and the President Pro Tempore tomorrow. I am also
making the leadership aware of the importance for Trump electors to meet on December 14.
Please provide the citation to the requirements of the duties which they must comply with.” This
was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 35.

On or about the 6th day of December 2020, JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN sent an e-
mail to ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY, unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8, whose identity is
known to the Grand Jury, and Georgia Senator Brandon Beach that stated that the Trump
presidential elector nominees in Georgia needed to meet on December 14, 2020, sign six sets of
certificates of vote, and mail them “to the President of the Senate and to other officials.” This
was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 36.

On or about the 6th day of December 2020, ROBERT DAVID CHEELLEY sent an e-
mail to unindicted co-conspirator Individual 2, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, that
stated he had been speaking with JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN and was attempting to set up a
call with Speaker of the Georgia House of Representatives David Ralston and President Pro
Tempore of the Georgia Senate Butch Miller to encourage them to call a special session of the
Georgia General Assembly. In the e-mail, ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY stated, “Professor
Eastman told me tonight that it is crifical that the 16 Electors for President Trump meet next
Monday and vote in accordance with 3 U.S.C. § 7.” In the e-mail, ROBERT DAVID
CHEELEY further stated, “I assume you can make sure this happens.” This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 37.

On or about the 7th day of December 2020, unindicted co-conspirator Individual 2,
whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, sent an e-mail to ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY and
DAVID JAMES SHAFER that stated, “Bob, can u get on a call with David Shafer, state GOP
chair and I later this morning to discuss. David has been on top of a lot of efforts in the state. I
get off of a board call around 10:30.” This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 38.

On or about the 7th day of December 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI caused to be tweeted from the Twitter account @RudyGiuliani a retweet of
unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, that stated,
“Georgia Patriot Call to Action: today is the day we need you to call your state Senate & House
Reps & ask them to sign the petition for a special session. We must have free & fair elections in
GA & a this is our only path to ensuring every legal vote is counted. @realDonaldTrump.” This
was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 39.

On or about the 7th day of December 2020, JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN sent an e-
mail to RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI with an attached memorandum titled “The
Real Deadline for Settling a State’s Electoral Votes.” The body of the e-mail stated, “Here's the
memo we discussed.” The memorandum was written by KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO to
James R. Troupis, an attorney associated with the Trump Campaign, and advocates for the
position that Trump presidential elector nominees in Wisconsin should meet and cast electoral
votes for DONALD JOHN TRUMP on December 14, 2020, despite the fact that DONALD
JOHN TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Wisconsin. This e-mail was
an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 40.

On or about the 7th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP requested that
Bill White, an individual associated with the Trump Campaign then residing in Fulton County,
Georgia, provide him with certain information, including contact information for Majority
Leader of the Georgia Senate Mike Dugan and President Pro Tempore of the Georgia Senate
Butch Miller. The following day, White sent an e-mail containing the requested information to
RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI, unindicted co-conspirator Individual 5, whose
identity is known to the Grand Jury, and others. This request was an overt act in furtherance of
the conspiracy.

Act 41.

On or about the 7th day of December 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI placed a telephone call to Speaker of the Georgia House of Representatives David
Ralston and discussed holding a special session of the Georgia General Assembly. This was an
overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 42.

On or about the 7th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP committed the
felony offense of SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH BY PUBLIC OFFICER, in
violation of O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1, in Fulton County, Georgia, by unlawfully soliciting,
requesting, and importuning Speaker of the Georgia House of Representatives David Ralston, a
public officer, to engage in conduct constituting the felony offense of Violation of Oath by
Public Officer, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by calling a special session of the Georgia General
Assembly for the purpose of unlawfully appointing presidential electors from Georgia, in willful
and intentional violation of the terms of the oath of said person as prescribed by law, with intent
that said person engage in said conduct. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 43.

On or about the 8th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP placed a
telephone call to Georgia Attorney General Chris Carr for the purpose of making false statements
concerning fraud in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in-Georgia and elsewhere.
During the telephone call, DONALD JOHN TRUMP asked Carr not to discourage other state
attorneys general from joining a federal lawsuit filed by the State of Texas contesting the
administration of the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia, Michigan,
Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 44.

On or about the 8th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP and JOHN
CHARLES EASTMAN placed a telephone call to Republican National Committee
Chairwoman Ronna McDaniel to request her assistance gathering certain individuals to meet and
cast electoral votes for DONALD JOHN TRUMP on December 14, 2020, in certain states
despite the fact that DONALD JOHN TRUMP: lost the November 3, 2020, presidential election
in those states. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 45.

On or about the 8th day of December 2020, MICHAEL A. ROMAN sent a text
message to unindicted co-conspirator Individual 4, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury,
stated that he had spoken to MISTY HAMPTON, and asked unindicted co-conspirator
Individual 4 to “get” MISTY HAMPTON to attend the hearing before the Georgia House of
Representatives Governmental Affairs Committee on December 10, 2020. This was an overt act
in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 46.

On or about the 9th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO wrote a
memorandum titled “Statutory Requirements for December 14 Electoral Votes” to James R.
Troupis, an attorney associated with the Trump Campaign. The memorandum provides detailed,
state-specific instructions for how Trump presidential elector nominees in Georgia, Arizona,
Michigan, Nevada, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin would meet and cast electoral votes for
DONALD JOHN TRUMP on December 14, 2020, despite the fact that DONALD JOHN
TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020, presidential election in those states. This was an overt act
in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 47.

On or about the 10th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail to Georgia Republican Party Chairman DAVID JAMES SHAFER and unindicted co-
conspirator Individual 9, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury. KENNETH JOHN
CHESEBRO stated in the e-mail that certain individuals associated with the Trump Campaign
asked him “to help coordinate with the other 5 contested States, to help with logistics of the
electors in other States hopefully joining in casting their votes on Monday.” This was an overt
act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 48.

On or about the 10th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail with attached documents to DAVID JAMES SHAFER and unindicted co-conspirators
Individual 9, Individual 10, and Individual 11, whose identities are known to the Grand Jury. The
documents were to be used by Trump presidential elector nominees in Georgia for the purpose of
casting electoral votes for DONALD JOHN TRUMP on December 14, 2020, despite the fact
that DONALD JOHN TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia.
This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 49.

On or about the 10th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail with attached documents to Arizona Republican Party Executive Director Greg Safsten
and others. The documents were to be used by Trump presidential elector nominees in Arizona
for the purpose of casting electoral votes for DONALD JOHN TRUMP on December 14, 2020,
despite the fact that DONALD JOHN TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020, presidential election
in Arizona. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy. '
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Act 50.

On or about the 10th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail to Republican Party of Wisconsin Chairman Brian Schimming with proposed language
for documents to be used by Trump presidential elector nominees in Wisconsin for the purpose
of casting electoral votes for DONALD JOHN TRUMP on December 14, 2020, despite the fact

“that DONALD JOHN TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Wisconsin.
This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 51.

. On or about the 10th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an

e-mail to Nevada Republican Party Vice Chairman Jim DeGraffenreid. KENNETH JOHN
CHESEBRO stated in the e-mail that RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI and other
individuals associated with the Trump Campaign asked him “to reach out to you and the other
Nevada electors to run point on the plan to have all Trump-Pence electors in all six contested
States meet and transmit their votes to Congress on Monday, Dec. 14.” This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy. ’

Act 52.

On or about the 10th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail with attached documents to Jim DeGraffenreid. The documents were to be used by Trump
presidential elector nominees in Nevada for the purpose of casting electoral votes for DONALD
JOHN TRUMP on December 14, 2020, despite the fact that DONALD JOHN TRUMP lost
the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Nevada. This was an overt act in furtherance of
the conspiracy.

Act 52.

On or about the 10th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail with attached documents to Republican Party of Pennsylvania General Counsel Thomas
W. King III. The documents were to be used by Trump presidential elector nominees in
Pennsylvania for the purpose of casting electoral votes for DONALD JOHN TRUMP on
December 14, 2020, despite the fact that DONALD JOHN TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020,
presidential election in Pennsylvania. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 54.

On or between the 10th day of December 2020 and the 14th day of December 2020,
DAVID JAMES SHAFER contacted unindicted co-conspirator Individual 2, whose identity is
known to the Grand Jury, by telephone and discussed unindicted co-conspirator Individual 2’s
attendance at the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump presidential elector nominees in Fulton
County, Georgia. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 585,

On or about the 10th day of December 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI and RAY STALLINGS SMITH III committed the felony offense of
SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH BY PUBLIC OFFICER, in violation of
0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1, in Fulton County, Georgia, by unlawfully soliciting, requesting,
and importuning certain public officers then serving as elected members of the Georgia House of
Representatives and present at a House Governmental Affairs Committee meeting, including
Representatives Shaw Blackmon, Jon Burns, Barry Fleming, Todd Jones, Bee Nguyen, Mary
Margaret Oliver, Alan Powell, Renitta Shannon, Robert Trammell, Scot Turner, and Bruce
Williamson, to engage in conduct constituting the felony offense of Violation of Oath by Public
Officer, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by unlawfully appointing presidential electors from Georgia, in
willful and intentional violation of the terms of the oath of said persons as prescribed by law,
with intent that said persons engage in said conduct. This was an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.
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Act 56.

On or about the 10th day of December 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI committed the felony offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in
violation of 0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and
unlawfully making at least one of the following false statements and representations to members
of the Georgia House of Representatives present at a House Governmental Affairs Committee
meeting:

1. That it is quite clear from the State Farm Arena video from November 3, 2020, that
Fulton County election workers were stealing votes and that Georgia officials were
covering up a crime in plain sight;

2. That at State Farm Arena on November 3, 2020, Democratic officials “got rid of all of the
reporters, all the observers, anyone that couldn’t be trusted,” used the excuse of a
watermain break, cleared out the voting area and then “went about their dirty, crooked
business”;

3. That between 12,000 and 24,000 ballots were illegally counted by Fulton County election
workers at State Farm Arena on November 3, 2020;

4. That in Michigan, there were 700,000 more ballots counted than were sent out to voters
in the November 3, 2020, presidential election, which was accounted for by quadruple
counting ballots;

5. That Ruby Freeman, Shaye Moss, and an unidentified man were “quite obviously
surreptitiously passing around USB ports as if they’re vials of heroin or cocaine” at State
Farm Arena to be used to “infiltrate the crooked Dominion voting machines”;

6. That 96,600 mail-in ballots were counted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election
in Georgia, despite there being no record of those ballots having been returned to a
county elections office;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-
14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 57,

On or about the 11th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER reserved Room
216 at the Georgia State Capitol in Fulton County, Georgia, for the December 14, 2020, meeting
of Trump presidential elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia. This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 58.

On or about the 11th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail to Jim DeGraffenreid and stated that “the purpose of having the electoral votes sent in to
Congress is to provide the opportunity to debate the election irregularities in Congress, and to
keep alive the possibility that the votes could be flipped to Trump.” This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 59.

- On or about the 11th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail with attached documents to Greg Safsten and others. The documents were to be used by
Trump presidential elector nominees in Arizona for the purpose of casting electoral votes for
DONALD JOHN TRUMP on December 14, 2020, despite the fact that DONALD JOHN
TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Arizona. This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 60.

On or about the 11th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail with attached documents to MICHAEL A. ROMAN and other individuals associated
with the Trump Campaign. The documents were to be used by Trump presidential elector
nominees in Nevada for the purpose of casting electoral votes for DONALD JOHN TRUMP on
December 14, 2020, despite the fact that DONALD JOHN TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020,
presidential election in Nevada. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 61.

On or about the 11th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e~-mail with attached documents to MICHAEL A. ROMAN, unindicted co-conspirator
Individual 5, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, and others. The documents were to be
used by Trump presidential elector nominees in Georgia for the purpose of casting electoral
votes for DONALD JOHN TRUMP on December 14, 2020, despite the fact that DONALD
JOHN TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia. This was an overt
act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 62,

On or about the 12th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER contacted
unindicted co-conspirator Individual 12, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, and
discussed unindicted co-conspirator Individual 12°s attendance at the December 14, 2020,
meeting of Trump presidential elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia. This was an overt act
in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 63.

On or about the 12th day of December 2020, MICHAEL A. ROMAN sent an e-mail to
unindicted co-conspirators Individual 4 and Individual 7, whose identities are known to the
Grand Jury, and other individuals associated with the Trump Campaign. In the e-mail,
MICHAEL A. ROMAN stated, “I need a tracker for the electors,” and instructed individuals
associated with the Trump Campaign to populate entries on a shared spreadsheet listing Trump
presidential elector nominees in Georgia, Arizona, Michigan, Nevada, Pennsylvania, and
Wisconsin. The entries on the spreadsheet included contact information for the Trump
presidential elector nominees, whether the Trump presidential elector nominees had been
contacted, and whether the Trump presidential elector nominees had confirmed that they would
attend the December 14, 2020, meetings of Trump presidential elector nominees in their
respective states, despite the fact that DONALD JOHN TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020,
presidential election in those states. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 64.

On or about the 12th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO met
with Brian Schimming and discussed the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump presidential
elector nominees in Wisconsin. RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI joined the meeting
by telephone and stated that the media should not be notified of the December 14, 2020, meeting
of Trump presidential elector nominees in Wisconsin. These were overt acts in furtherance of the
conspiracy.

Act 65.

On or about the 12th day of December 2020, MICHAEL A. ROMAN instructed an
individual associated with the Trump Campaign to distribute certain information related to the
December 14, 2020, meetings of Trump presidential elector nominees in Georgia, Arizona,
Michigan, Nevada, New Mexico, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin to unindicted co-conspirator
Individual 4, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, and to other individuals associated with
the Trump Campaign. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 66.

On or about the 12th day of December 2020, unindicted co-conspirator Individual 4,
whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, sent an e-mail to MICHAEL A. ROMAN and
DAVID JAMES SHAFER with updates on the progress of organizing the December 14, 2020,
meeting of Trump presidential elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia. The e-mail stated
which elector nominees had confirmed they would attend the meeting, that other individuals had
been secured in case some of the elector nominees refused to participate in the meeting, that
Georgia legislators had been contacted to ensure access to the Georgia Capitol, and that DAVID
JAMES SHAFER had reserved Room 216 for the meeting. This was an overt act in furtherance
of the conspiracy.

Act 67.

On or about the 12th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER sent an e-mail
to unindicted co-conspirator Individual 4, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, advising
them to “touch base” with each of the Trump presidential elector nominees in Georgia m advance
of the December 14, 2020, meeting to confirm their attendance. This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 68.

On or about the 12th day of December 2020, unindicted co-conspirator Individual 4,
whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, sent a text message with contact information for
unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, and Georgia
Senator Brandon Beach to MICHAEL A. ROMAN for the purpose of providing the contact
information to RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI. This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 69.

On or about the 13th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail with attached documents to MICHAEL A. ROMAN. The documents were to be used by
Trump presidential elector nominees in New Mexico for the purpose of casting electoral votes
for DONALD JOHN TRUMP on December 14, 2020, despite the fact that DONALD JOHN
TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020, presidential election in New Mexico. This was an overt act
in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 70.

On or about the 13th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail to RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI with the subject “PRIVILEGED AND
CONFIDENTIAL — Brief notes on ‘President of the Senate’ strategy.” In the e-mail, KENNETH
JOHN CHESEBRO outlined multiple strategies for disrupting and delaying the joint session of
Congress on January 6, 2021, the day prescribed by law for counting votes cast by the duly
elected and qualified presidential electors from Georgia and the other states. In the e-mail,
KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO stated that the strategies outlined by him were “preferable to
allowing the Electoral Count Act to operate by its terms.” This was an overt act in furtherance of

the conspiracy.
Act71.

On or about the 13th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail with attached documents to MICHAEL A. ROMAN and unindicted co-conspirator
Individual 4, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury. The documents were to be used by
Trump presidential elector nominees in Georgia for the purpose of casting electoral votes for
DONALD JOHN TRUMP on December 14, 2020, despite the fact that DONALD JOHN
TRUMP lost the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia. This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 72.

On or about the 13th day of December 2020, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an
e-mail to MICHAEL A. ROMAN and unindicted co-conspirator Individual 4, whose identity is
known to the Grand Jury, and stated that RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI “wants to
keep this quiet until after all the voting is done,” in reference to the December 14, 2020, meeting
of Trump presidential elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia. This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 73.

On or about the 13th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER sent a text
message to unindicted co-conspirator Individual 4, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury,
and stated that unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8, whose identity is known to the Grand
Jury, would attend the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump presidential elector nominees in
Fulton County, Georgia, in the place of a Trump presidential elector nominee who refused to
participate in the meeting. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 74,

On or about the 13th day of December 2020, unindicted co-conspirator Individual 9,
whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, sent a text message to DAVID JAMES SHAFER
and confirmed that he and unindicted co-conspirator Individual 13, whose identity is known to
the Grand Jury, would attend the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump presidential elector
nominees in Fulton County, Georgia. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 75.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be
tweeted from the Twitter account @RealDonaldTrump, “What a fool Governor @BrianKempGA
of Georgia is. Could have been so easy, but now we have to do it the hard way. Demand this
clown call a Special Session and open up signature verification, NOW. Otherwise, could be a bad
day for two GREAT Senators on January 5th.” This was an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.

Act 76.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER sent a text
message to unindicted co-conspirator Individual 4, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury
that stated, “Listen. Tell them to go straight to Room 216 to avoid drawing attention to what we
are doing,” in reference to the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump presidential elector
nominees in Fulton County, Georgia. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 77.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, MICHAEL A. ROMAN sent an e-mail to
unindicted co-conspirators Individual 4 and Individual 7, whose identities are known to the
Grand Jury, and stated, “Please send me an update as soon as the State Electoral College has
adjourned and all paperwork is secured.” This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 78.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, RAY STALLINGS SMITH III and
DAVID JAMES SHAFER encouraged certain individuals present at the December 14, 2020,
meeting of Trump presidential elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia, to sign the document
titted “CERTIFICATE OF THE VOTES OF THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM GEORGIA.” This
was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 79.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER, SHAWN
MICAH TRESHER STILL, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, and unindicted co-
conspirators Individual 2, Individual 8, Individual 9, Individual 10, Individual 11, Individual 12,
Individual 13, Individual 14, Individual 15, Individual 16, Individual 17, Individual 18, and
Individual 19, whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, committed the felony offense of
IMPERSONATING A PUBLIC OFFICER, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-10-23, in Fulton
County, Georgia, by unlawfully falsely holding themselves out as the duly elected and qualified
presidential electors from the State of Georgia, public officers, with intent to mislead the
President of the United States Senate, the Archivist of the United States, the Georgia Secretary of
State, and the Chief Judge of the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia
into believing that they actually were such officers by placing in the United States mail to said
persons a document titled “CERTIFICATE OF THE VOTES OF THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM
GEORGIA.” This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxiii) and
an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 80.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER, SHAWN
MICAH TRESHER STILL, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, and unindicted co-
conspirators Individual 2, Individual 8, Individual 9, Individual 10, Individual 11, Individual 12,
Individual 13, Individual 14, Individual 15, Individual 16, Individual 17, Individual 18, and
Individual 19, whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, committed the felony offense of
FORGERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-9-1(b), in Fulton
County, Georgia, by, with the intent to defraud, knowingly making a document titled
“CERTIFICATE OF THE VOTES OF THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM GEORGIA,” a writing
other than a check, in such manner that the writing as made purports to have been made by
authority of the duly elected and qualified presidential electors from the State of Georgia, who
did not give such authority, and uttered and delivered said document to the Archivist of the
United States. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xvi) and
an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 81.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER, SHAWN
MICAH TRESHER STILL, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, and unindicted co-
conspirators Individual 2, Individual 8, Individual 9, Individual 10, Individual 11, Individual 12,
Individual 13, Individual 14, Individual 15, Individual 16, Individual 17, Individual 18, and
Individual 19, whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, committed the felony offense of
FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, in Fulton
County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully making and using a false document
titled “CERTIFICATE OF THE VOTES OF THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM GEORGIA,” with
knowledge that said document contained the false statement, “WE, THE UNDERSIGNED,
being the duly elected and qualified Electors for President and Vice President of the United
States of America from the State of Georgia, do hereby certify the following,” said document
being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and the Office of the
Govemor of Georgia, departments and agencies of state government. This was an act of
racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.

Act 82

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER, SHAWN
MICAH TRESHER STILL, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, and unindicted co-
conspirators Individual 2, Individual 8, Individual 9, Individual 10, Individual 11, Individual 12,
Individual 13, Individual 14, Individual 15, Individual 16, Individual 17, Individual 18, and
Individual 19, whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, attempted to commit the felony
offense of FILING FALSE DOCUMENTS, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20.1(b)(1), in
Fulton County, Georgia, by placing in the United States mail a document titled “CERTIFICATE
OF THE VOTES OF THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM GEORGIA,” addressed to Chief Judge,
U.S. District Court, Northern District of Georgia, 2188 Richard D. Russell Federal Office
Building and U.S. Courthouse, 75 Ted Turner Drive, SW, Atlanta, GA 30303, with intent to
knowingly file, enter, and record said document in a court of the United States, having reason to
know that said document contained the materially false statement, “WE, THE UNDERSIGNED,
being the duly elected and qualified Electors for President and Vice President of the United
States of America from the State of Georgia, do hereby certify the following.” This was an act of
racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.
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Act 83.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER and SHAWN
MICAH TRESHER STILL committed the felony offense of FORGERY IN THE FIRST
DEGREE, in violation of 0.C.G.A. § 16-9-1(b), in Fulton County, Georgia, by, with the intent
to defraud, knowingly making a document titled “RE: Notice of Filling of Electoral College
Vacancy,” a writing other than a check, in such manner that the writing as made purports to have
been made by the authority of the duly elected and qualified presidential electors from the State
of Georgia, who did not give such authority, and uttered and delivered said document to the
Archivist of the United States. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-
3(5)(A)(xvi) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 84.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER and SHAWN
MICAH TRESHER STILL committed the felony offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND
WRITINGS, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly,
willfully, and unlawfully making and using a false document titled “RE: Notice of Filling of
Electoral College Vacancy,” with knowledge that said document contained the false statements
that DAVID JAMES SHAFER was Chairman of the 2020 Georgia Electoral College Meeting
and SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL was Secretary of the 2020 Georgia Electoral College
Meeting, said document being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of
State and the Office of the Governor of Georgia, departments and agencies of state government.
This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 85.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, DAVID JAMES SHAFER instructed
unindicted co-conspirator Individual 15, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to deliver to
the Office of the Governor of Georgia a document signed by DAVID JAMES SHAFER and
SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL titled “RE: Notice of Filling of Electoral College
Vacancy.” The document contained multiple false statements. This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 86.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, unindicted co-conspirator Individual 4,
whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, sent an e-mail to MICHAEL A. ROMAN,
unindicted co-conspirator Individual 7, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, and others
that stated, “All votes cast, paperwork complete, being mailed now. Ran pretty smoothly,” in
reference to the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump presidential elector nominees in Fulton
County, Georgia. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 87.

On or about the 14th day of December 2020, STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE attempted
to commit the felony offense of INFLUENCING WITNESSES, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-
10-93(b)(1)(A), in Fulton County, Georgia, by traveling to the home of Ruby Freeman, a Fulton
County, Georgia, election worker, and speaking to her neighbor, with intent to knowingly engage
in misleading conduct toward Ruby Freeman, by purporting to offer her help, and with intent to
influence her testimony in an official proceeding in Fulton County, Georgia, concerning events
at State Farm Arena in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia. This was an act
of racketeering activity pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxvii) and an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 88.

On or about the 15th day of December 2020, STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE attempted
to commit the felony offense of INFLUENCING WITNESSES, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-
10-93(b)(1)(A), in Fulton County, Georgia, by traveling to the home of Ruby Freeman, a Fulton
County, Georgia, election worker, and knocking on her door, with intent to knowingly engage in
misleading conduct toward Ruby Freeman, by purporting to offer her help, and with intent to
influence her testimony in an official proceeding in Fulton County, Georgia, concerning events
at State Farm Arena in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia. This was an act
of racketeering activity pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxvii) and an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 89.

On or between the 15th day of December 2020 and the 4th day of January 2021,
STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE solicited HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD, an
individual associated with the organization Black Voices for Trump, to assist with his effort to
speak to Ruby Freeman, a Fulton County, Georgia, election worker. STEPHEN CLIFFGARD
LEE stated to HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD that Freeman was afraid to talk
to STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE because he was a white man. These were overt acts in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 90.

. On or about the 18th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP met with
RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI, SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL, unindicted
co-conspirator Individual 20, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, and others at the White
House. The individuals present at the meeting discussed certain strategies and theories intended
to influence the outcome of the November 3, 2020, presidential election, including seizing voting
equipment and appointing SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL as special counsel with broad
authority to investigate allegations of voter fraud in Georgia and elsewhere. This was an overt act
in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 91.

On or about the 21st day of December 2020, SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL sent
an e-mail to the Chief Operations Officer of SullivanStrickler LLC and instructed him that she
and unindicted co-conspirators Individual 6, Individual 21, and Individual 22, whose identities
are known to the Grand Jury, were to immediately “receive a copy of all data” obtained by
SullivanStrickler LLC from Dominion Voting Systems equipment in Michigan. This was an
overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 92.

On or about the 22nd day of December 2020, MARK RANDALL MEADOWS
traveled to the Cobb County Civic Center in Cobb County, Georgia, and attempted to observe the
signature match audit being performed there by law enforcement officers from the Georgia
Bureau of Investigation and the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State, despite the fact that the
audit process was not open to the public. While present at the center, MARK RANDALL
MEADOWS spoke to Georgia Deputy Secretary of State Jordan Fuchs, Office of the Georgia
Secretary of State Chief Investigator Frances Watson, Georgia Bureau of Investigation Special
Agent in Charge Bahan Rich, and others, who prevented MARK RANDALL MEADOWS from
entering into the space where the audit was being conducted. This was an overt act in furtherance
of the conspiracy.

Act 93.

On or about the 23rd day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP placed a
telephone call to Office of the Georgia Secretary of State Chief Investigator Frances Watson that
had been previously arranged by MARK RANDALL MEADOWS. During the phone call,
DONALD JOHN TRUMP falsely stated that he had won the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in Georgia “by hundreds of thousands of votes” and stated to Watson that “when the
right answer comes out you’ll be praised.” This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 94.

On or about the 23rd day of December 2020, JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN sent an e-
mail to KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO and unindicted co-conspirator Individual 3, whose
identity is known to the Grand Jury, with the subject “FW: Draft 2, with edits.” In the e-mail,
JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN attached a memorandum titled “PRIVILEGED AND
CONFIDENTIAL -- Dec 23 memo on Jan 6 scenario.docx” and stated, “As for hearings, I think
both are unnecessary. The fact that we have multiple slates of electors demonstrates the
uncertainty of either. That should be enough. And I agree with Ken that Judiciary Committee
hearings on the constitutionality of the Electoral Count Act could invite counter views that we do
not believe should constrain Pence (or Grassley) in the exercise of power they have under the
12 Amendment. Better for them just to act boldly and be challenged, since the challenge would
likely lead to the Court denying review on nonjusticiable political question grounds.” This was
an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 95.

On or about the 25th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP placed a
telephone call to Speaker of the Arizona House of Representatives Rusty Bowers for the purpose
of soliciting, requesting, and importuning Bowers to unlawfully appoint presidential electors
from Arizona. During the call, Bowers stated to Trump, “I voted for you. I worked for you. I
campaigned for you. I just won’t do anything illegal for you.” This telephone call was an overt
act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 96.

On or about the 27th day of December 2020, MARK RANDALL MEADOWS sent a
text message to Office of the Georgia Secretary of State Chief Investigator Frances Watson that
stated in part, “Is there a way to speed up Fulton county signature verification in order to have
results before Jan 6 if the trump campaign assist financially.” This was an overt act in furtherance
of the conspiracy.

Act 97.

On or about the 27th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP solicited
Acting United States Attorney General Jeffrey Rosen and Acting United States Deputy Attorney
General Richard Donoghue to make a false statement by stating, “Just say that the election was
corrupt, and leave the rest to me and the Republican congressmen.” This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 98.

On or about the 28th day of December 2020, JEFFREY BOSSERT CLARK attempted
to commit the felony offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in violation of
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly and willfully making a false
writing and document knowing the same to contain the false statement that the United States
Department of Justice had “identified significant concerns that may have impacted the outcome
of the election in multiple States, including the State of Georgia,” said statement being within the
jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and the Georgia Bureau of
Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county and city law
enforcement agencies;

And on or about the 28th day of December 2020, JEFFREY BOSSERT CLARK sent
an e-mail to Acting United States Attorney General Jeffrey Rosen and Acting United States
Deputy Attorney General Richard Donoghue and requested authorization to send said false
writing and document to Georgia Governor Brian Kemp, Speaker of the Georgia House of
Representatives David Ralston, and President Pro Tempore of the Georgia Senate Butch Miller,
which constitutes a substantial step toward the commission of False Statements and Writings,
0O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-
3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 99.

On or about the 28th day of December 2020, JEFFREY BOSSERT CLARK solicited
Acting United States Attorney General Jeffrey Rosen and Acting United States Deputy Attorney
General Richard Donoghue to sign and send a document that falsely stated that the United States
Department of Justice had “identified significant concerns that may have impacted the outcome
of the election in multiple States, including the State of Georgia,” to Georgia Governor Brian
Kemp, Speaker of the Georgia House of Representatives David Ralston, and President Pro
Tempore of the Georgia Senate Butch Miller. This was an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.

Act 100.

On or about the 30th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be
tweeted from the Twitter account @RealDonald Trump, “Hearings from Atlanta on the Georgia
Election overturn now being broadcast. Check it out. @OANN @newsmax and many more.
@BrianKempGA should resign from office. He is an obstructionist who refuses to admit that we
won Georgia, BIG! Also won the other Swing States.” This was an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.

Act 101.

On or about the 30th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be
tweeted from the Twitter account @RealDonald Trump, “Hearings from Atlanta on the Georgia
Election overturn now being broadcast LIVE via @RSBNetwork! https://t.co/ogBvLbK{qG.”
This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 102,

On or about the 30th day of December 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI, RAY STALLINGS SMITH III, and ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY committed
the felony offense of SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH BY PUBLIC OFFICER,
in violation of O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1, in Fulton County, Georgia, by soliciting,
requesting, and importuning certain public officers then serving as elected members of the
Georgia Senate and present at a Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting, including unindicted
co-conspirator Individual 8, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, Senators Brandon Beach,
Bill Heath, William Ligon, Michael Rhett, and Blake Tillery, to engage in conduct constituting
the felony offense of Violation of Oath by Public Officer, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by unlawfully
appointing presidential electors from the State of Georgia, in willful and intentional violation of
the terms of the oath of said persons as prescribed by law, with intent that said persons engage in
said conduct. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 103.

On or about the 30th day of December 2020, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS
GIULIANI committed the felony offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in
violation of 0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and
unlawfully making at least one of the following false statements and representations to members
of the Georgia Senate present at a Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting:

1. That Fulton County election workers fraudulently counted certain ballots as many
as five times at State Farm Arena on November 3, 2020;

2. That 2,560 felons voted illegally in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia; .

3. That 10,315 dead people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-
14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 104.

On or about the 30th day of December 2020, RAY STALLINGS SMITH III
committed the felony offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in violation of
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully
making at least one of the following false statements and representations to members of the
Georgia Senate present at a Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting:

1. That Georgia Secretary of State General Counsel Ryan Germany stated that his
office had sent letters to 8,000 people who voted illegally in the November 3,
2020, presidential election and told them not to vote in the January 5, 2021, runoff
election;

2. That the Georgia Secretary of State admitted “that they had a 90% accuracy rate”
in the November 3, 2020, presidential election and that “there’s still a 10% margin
that’s not accurate”;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-
14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 105.

On or about the 30th day of December 2020, ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY committed
the felony offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in violation of O.C.G.A. §
16-10-20, in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully making at least
one of the following false statements and representations to members of the Georgia Senate
present at a Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting:

1. That poll watchers and media at State Farm Arena were told late in the evening of
November 3, 2020, that the vote count was being suspended until the next
morning and to go home because of “a major watermain break™;

2. That Fulton County election workers at State Farm Arena “voted” the same
ballots “over and over again” on November 3, 2020;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-
14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 106.

On or about the 30th day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be
tweeted from the Twitter account @RealDonaldTrump, “We now have far more votes than
needed to flip Georgia in the Presidential race. Massive VOTER FRAUD took place. Thank you
to the Georgia Legislature for today’s revealing meeting!” This was an overt act in furtherance of
the conspiracy.

Act 107.

On or about the 31st day of December 2020, JENNA LYNN ELLIS wrote a
memorandum titled “Memorandum Re: Constitutional Analysis of Vice President Authority for
January 6, 2021 Electoral College Vote Count” to DONALD JOHN TRUMP. The
memorandum outlined a strategy for disrupting and delaying the joint session of Congress on
January 6, 2021, the day prescribed by law for counting votes cast by the duly elected and
qualified presidential electors from Georgia and the other states, and stated, “the Vice President
should therefore not open any of the votes” from six states, including Georgia, that were falsely
characterized as having “electoral delegates in dispute.” This was an overt act in furtherance of
the conspiracy.
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Act 108.

On or about the 31st day of December 2020, DONALD JOHN TRUMP and JOHN
CHARLES EASTMAN committed the felony offense of FILING FALSE DOCUMENTS, in
violation of 0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20.1(b)(1), in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly filing a
document titled “VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR EMERGENCY INJUNCTIVE AND
DECLARATORY RELIEF” in the matter of Trump v. Kemp, Case 1:20-cv-05310-MHC, in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, a court of the United States
having reason to know that said document contained at least one of the following materially false
statements:

1. That “as many as 2,506 felons with an uncompleted sentence” voted illegally in the
November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia;

2. That “at least 66,247 underage” people voted illegally in the November 3, 2020,
presidential election in Georgia;

3. That “at least 2,423 individuals” voted illegally in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in Georgia “who were not listed in the State’s records as having been registered

to vote”;

4. That “at least 1,043 individuals” voted illegally in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election “who had illegally registered to vote using a postal office box as their
habitation”; .

5. That “as many as 10,315 or more” dead people voted in the November 3, 2020,
presidential election in Georgia;

6. That “[d]eliberate misinformation was used to instruct Republican poll watchers and
members of the press to leave the premises for the night at approximately 10:00 p.m. on
November 3, 2020” at State Farm Arena in Fulton County, Georgia;

Earlier on the same day, JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN sent an e-mail to attorneys associated
with the Trump Campaign admitting his knowledge that at least some of the allegations in the
verified complaint were not accurate. This filing was an act of racketeering activity under
0.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 109.

On or about the 1st day of January 2021, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an e-
mail to JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN and unindicted co-conspirator Individual 3, whose
identity is known to the Grand Jury. In the e-mail, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO outlined a
strategy for disrupting and delaying the joint session of Congress on January 6, 2021, the day
prescribed by law for counting votes cast by the duly elected and qualified presidential electors
from Georgia and the other states. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 110.

On or about the 2nd day of January 2021, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, a Georgia bail
bondsman, placed a telephone call to JEFFREY BOSSERT CLARK and discussed the
November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia. The telephone call was 63 minutes in
duration. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 111,

On or about the 2nd day of January 2021, JEFFREY BOSSERT CLARK solicited
Acting United States Attorney General Jeffrey Rosen and Acting United States Deputy Attorney
General Richard Donoghue to sign and send a document that falsely stated that the United States
Department of Justice had “identified significant concerns that may have impacted the outcome
of the election in multiple States, including the State of Georgia,” to Georgia Governor Brian
Kemp, Speaker of the Georgia House of Representatives David Ralston, and President Pro
Tempore of the Georgia Senate Butch Miller. This was an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.

Act 112.

On or about the 2nd day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP and MARK
RANDALL MEADOWS committed the felony offense of SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION
OF OATH BY PUBLIC OFFICER, in violation of O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1, in Fulton
County, Georgia, by unlawfully soliciting, requesting, and importuning Georgia Secretary of
State Brad Raffensperger, a public officer, to engage in conduct constituting the felony offense of
Violation of Oath by Public Officer, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by unlawfully altering, unlawfully
adjusting, and otherwise unlawfully influencing the certified returns for presidential electors for
the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia, in willful and intentional violation of the
terms of the oath of said person as prescribed by law, with intent that said person engage in said
conduct. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 113.

On or about the 2nd day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP committed the
felony offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in violation of 0.C.G.A. § 16-
10-20, in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully making at least one of
the following false statements and representations to Georgia Secretary of State Brad
Raffensperger, Georgia Deputy Secretary of State Jordan Fuchs, and Georgia Secretary of State
General Counsel Ryan Germany:

1. That anywhere from 250,000 to 300,000 ballots were dropped mysteriously
into the rolls in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia,;

2. That thousands of people attempted to vote in the November 3, 2020,
presidential election in Georgia and were told they could not because a ballot
had already been cast in their name;

3. That 4,502 people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia who were not on the voter registration list;

4. That 904 people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia who were registered at an address that was a post office box;

5. That Ruby Freeman was a professional vote scammer and a known political
operative;

6. That Ruby Freeman, her daughter, and others were responsible for
fraudulently awarding at least 18,000 ballots to Joseph R. Biden at State Farm
Arena in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia;

7. That close to 5,000 dead people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in Georgia;

8. That 139% of people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Detroit;

9. That 200,000 more votes were recorded than the number of people who voted
in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Pennsylvania;

10. That thousands of dead people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in Michigan;

11. That Ruby Freeman stuffed the ballot boxes;
12. That hundreds of thousands of ballots had been “dumped” into Fulton County

and another county adjacent to Fulton County in the November 3, 2020,
presidential election in Georgia;
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13. That he won the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia by
400,000 votes;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government. This was an
act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance
of the conspiracy.

Act 114.

On or about the 3rd day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be
tweeted fromn the Twitter account @RealDonaldTrump, “I spoke to Secretary of State Brad
Raffensperger yesterday about Fulton County and voter fraud in Georgia. He was unwilling, or
unable, to answer questions such as the ‘ballots under table’ scam, ballot destruction, out of state
‘voters’, dead voters, and more. He has no clue!” This was an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.
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Act 115.

On or about the 3rd day of January 2021, STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE,
HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD, and TREVIAN C. KUTTI placed multiple
telephone calls and sent text messages to each other and to other individuals involved in the
conspiracy. They include the following:

1. At 7:48 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone
call to Ruby Freeman, a Fulton County, Georgia, election worker, that was
unsuccessful.

2. At 7:49 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone
call to Ruby Freeman that was unsuccessful.

3. At 7:49 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone
call to TREVIAN C. KUTTI.

4. At7:53 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD sent a text message to
Ruby Freeman.

5. At 8:03 p.m., TREVIAN C. KUTTI placed a telephone call to HARRISON
WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD.

6. At8:11 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone
call to unindicted co-conspirator Individual 23, whose identity is known to the Grand

Jury.

7. At8:18 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone
call to STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE.

8. At 8:48 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone
call to TREVIAN C. KUTTI.

9. At9:16 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone
call to TREVIAN C. KUTTI. ’

10. At 9:33 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone
call to TREVIAN C. KUTTI.

11. At 9:50 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone
call to STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE.

These were overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 116.

On or about the 4th day of January 2021, TREVIAN C. KUTTI, having been recruited
by HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD, traveled from Chicago, Illinois, to Atlanta,
Georgia, and caused a certain individual, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to pick her
up from a train station in Fulton County, Georgia, for the purpose of attempting to contact Ruby
Freeman, a Fulton County, Georgia, election worker. This was an overt act in furtherance of the

conspiracy.
Act 117.

On or about the 4th day of January 2021, TREVIAN C. KUTTI traveled to Ruby
Freeman’s home in Cobb County, Georgia, and attempted to contact her but was unsuccessful.
TREVIAN C. KUTTI spoke with Freeman’s neighbor and falsely stated that she was a crisis
manager attempting to “help” Freeman before leaving Freeman’s home. This was an overt act in

furtherance of the conspiracy.
Act 118.

On or about the 4th day of January 2021, TREVIAN C. KUTTI, while in Fulton
County, Georgia, placed a telephone call to Ruby Freeman and stated that Freeman was in
danger. TREVIAN C. KUTTI stated that she could “help” Freeman and requested that Freeman
meet with and speak to her that night at a Cobb County Police Department precinct in Cobb
County, Georgia. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 119.

On or about the 4th day of January 2021, TREVIAN C. KUTTI traveled to a Cobb
County Police Department precinct in Cobb County, Georgia, and met with and spoke to Ruby
Freeman for approximately one hour. HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD joined
the meeting by telephone. TREVIAN C. KUTTI and HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT
FLOYD stated to Freeman that she needed protection and purported to offer her help. This was
an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 120.

On or about the 4th day of January 2021 STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE,
HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD, and TREVIAN C. KUTTI committed the
felony offense of SOLICITATION OF FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in
violation of O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-20, in Cobb County, Georgia, by soliciting, requesting,
and importuning Ruby Freeman, a Fulton County, Georgia, election worker, to engage in
conduct constituting the felony offense of False Statements and Writings, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20,
by knowingly and willfully making a false statement and representation concerning events at
State Farm Arena in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia, said statement and
representation being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies, with intent that said person engage in said conduct. This was
an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 121.

On or about the 4th day of January 2021 STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE,
HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD, and TREVIAN C. KUTTI committed the
felony offense of INFLUENCING WITNESSES, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-10-
93(b)(1)(A), in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly and unlawfully engaging in misleading
conduct toward Ruby Freeman, a Fulton County, Georgia, election worker, by stating that she
needed protection and by purporting to offer her help, with intent to influence her testimony in
an official proceeding in Fulton County, Georgia, concerning events at State Farm Arena in the
November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia. This was an act of racketeering activity
under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxvii) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 122,

On or about the 4th day of January 2021, STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE,

HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD, and TREVIAN C. KUTTI placed multiple
telephone calls and sent text messages to each other and to other individuals involved in the
conspiracy. They include the following:

1.

At 9:41 am., STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE placed a telephone call to HARRISON
WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD.

At 11:24 a.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone call
to DAVID JAMES SHAFER.

At 12:25 p.m., STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE placed a telephone call to HARRISON
WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD.

At 12:32 p.m., STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE sent a text message to HARRISON
WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD.

At 8:10 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone call to
DAVID JAMES SHAFER.

At 10:00 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone call
to STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE.

At 10:19 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone call

_to TREVIAN C. KUTTIL

At 10:43 p.m., TREVIAN C. KUTTI placed a telephone call to HARRISON
WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD.

At 11:10 p.m., TREVIAN C. KUTTI placed a telephone call to HARRISON
WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD.

10. At 12:12 a.m. on January 5, 2021, TREVIAN C. KUTTI placed a telephone call to

HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD.

These were overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 123.

On or about the 4th day of January 2020, JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN placed a
telephone call to Speaker of the Arizona House of Representatives Rusty Bowers and solicited,
requested, and importuned Bowers to unlawfully appoint presidential electors from Arizona.
During the telephone call, Bowers declined to comply with Eastman’s request and stated that he
would not risk violating his oath of office. The request was an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy. ‘

Act 124,

On or about the 4th day of January 2021, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO sent an e-
mail to JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN with the subject “Fwd: Draft 2, with edits” and included
within the body of the e-mail another e-mail that KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO previously
sent to RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI with the subject “PRIVILEGED AND
CONFIDENTIAL — Brief notes on ‘President of the Senate’ strategy.” In the e-mail, KENNETH
JOHN CHESEBRO outlined multiple strategies for disrupting and delaying the joint session of
Congress on January 6, 2021, the day prescribed by law for counting votes cast by the duly
elected and qualified presidential electors from Georgia and the other states, and stated that the
outcomes of any of these strategies were “preferable to allowing the Electoral Count Act to
operate by its terms.” This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 123.

On or about the 4th day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP and JOHN
CHARLES EASTMAN met with Vice President Mike Pence, Chief of Staff to the Vice
President Marc Short, and Counsel to the Vice President Greg Jacob in the Oval Office at the
White House. During the meeting, DONALD JOHN TRUMP and JOHN CHARLES
EASTMAN argued to Pence that he could either reject electoral votes from certain states or
delay the joint session of Congress on January 6, 2021, the day prescribed by law for counting
votes cast by the duly elected and qualified presidential electors from Georgia and the other
states, for the purpose of allowing certain state legislatures to unlawfully appoint presidential
electors in favor of DONALD JOHN TRUMP. During the meeting, JOHN CHARLES
EASTMAN admitted both options violated the Electoral Count Act. This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

57



Case 1:23-cv-03621-SCJ Document 1-1 Filed 08/15/23 Page 58 of 98

Act 126.

On or about the 5th day of January 2021, JENNA LYNN ELLIS wrote a memorandum
titled “Re: Vice President Authority in Counting Electors pursuant to U.S. Constitution and 3
U.S. Code §§ 5 and 15” to an attorney associated with DONALD JOHN TRUMP. The
memorandum outlined a strategy for disrupting and delaying the joint session of Congress on
January 6, 2021, the day prescribed by law for counting votes cast by the duly elected and
qualified presidential electors from Georgia and the other states, and stated, “the Vice President
should begin alphabetically in order of the states, and coming first to Arizona, not open the
purported certification, but simply stop the count at that juncture.” This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 127.

On or about the 5th day of January 2021, ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY, STEPHEN
CLIFFGARD LEE, HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD, TREVIAN C. KUTTI,
and SCOTT GRAHAM HALL placed multiple telephone calls to each other and to other
individuals involved in the conspiracy. They include the following:

1.

10.

11.

12.

At 11:32 am., STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE placed a telephone call to TREVIAN
C. KUTTL

At 12:14 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD, TREVIAN C.
KUTTIL, STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE, and unindicted co-conspirator Individual
23, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, participated in a four-way telephone
call.

At 12:19 p.m., SCOTT GRAHAM HALL placed a telephone call to ROBERT
DAVID CHEELEY.

At 12:34 p.m., SCOTT GRAHAM HALL placed a telephone call to ROBERT
DAVID CHEELEY.

At 1:07 p.m., ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY placed a telephone call to SCOTT
GRAHAM HALL.

At 1:09 p.m., ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY placed a telephone call to SCOTT
GRAHAM HALL.

At 2:30 p.m., ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY placed a telephone call to HARRISON
WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD.

At 2:45 p.m., HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD placed a telephone
call to ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY.

At 3:59 p.m., ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY placed a telephone call to SCOTT
GRAHAM HALL.

At 4:42 p.m., STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE placed a telephone call to ROBERT
DAVID CHEELEY.

At 4:50 p.m., STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE placed a telephone call to
HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD.

At 5:05 p.m., STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE placed a telephone call to
HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT FLOYD.

59



Case 1:23-cv-03621-SCJ Document 1-1 Filed 08/15/23 Page 60 of 98

13. At 7:19 p.m., TREVIAN C. KUTTI placed a telephone call to ROBERT DAVID
CHEELEY.

14. At 7:48 p.m., ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY placed a telephone call to TREVIAN
C. KUTTI.

15. At 8:27 p.m., ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY placed a telephone call to TREVIAN
C.KUTTL

16. At 8:49 p.m., ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY placed a telephone call to STEPHEN
CLIFFGARD LEE.

17. At 9:18 p.m., SCOTT GRAHAM HALL placed a telephone call to ROBERT
DAVID CHEELEY.

18. At 9:31 p.m., TREVIAN C. KUTTI placed a telephone call to ROBERT DAVID
CHEELEY.

19. At 10:14 p.m., ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY placed a telephone call to STEPHEN
CLIFFGARD LEE.

20. At 11:16 p.m., ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY placed a telephone call to TREVIAN
C.KUTTL

21. At 11:25 p.m., SCOTT GRAHAM HALL placed a telephone call to ROBERT
DAVID CHEELEY.

22. At 11:35 p.m., ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY, TREVIAN C. KUTTI, and SCOTT
GRAHAM HALL participated in a three-way telephone call.

23. At 12:09 a.m. on January 6, 2021, TREVIAN C. KUTTI placed a telephone call to
ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY. '

These were overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy.
Act 128.
On or about the 5th day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be

tweeted from the Twitter account @RealDonaldTrump, “The Vice President has the power to
reject fraudulently chosen electors.” This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

60



Case 1:23-cv-03621-SCJ Document 1-1 Filed 08/15/23 Page 61 of 98

Act 129,

On or about the 5th day of January 2021, JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN met with
Chief of Staff to the Vice President Marc Short and Counsel to the Vice President Greg Jacob for
the purpose of requesting that Vice President Mike Pence reject slates of presidential electors
from Georgia and certain other states during the joint session of Congress on January 6, 2021,
the day prescribed by law for counting votes cast by the duly elected and qualified presidential
electors from Georgia and the other states. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 130.

On or about the 5th day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP met with Vice
President Mike Pence in the Oval Office at the White House. During the meeting, DONALD
JOHN TRUMP stated that Pence had the power to decertify the November 3, 2020, presidential
election results, that people cheated, and that Pence wanted to “play by Marquess of Queensberry
rules.” When Pence stated that it was his duty to support and defend the Constitution and that
only Congress had the power to decide to reject slates of presidential electors, DONALD JOHN
TRUMP stated that Pence was naive, implied that he lacked courage, and stated that Pence was
doing “a great disservice.” This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 131.

On or about the 5th day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP placed a
telephone call to Vice President Mike Pence. During the telephone call, DONALD JOHN
TRUMP and JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN attempted to persuade Pence to reject slates of
presidential electors or return the slates of presidential electors to state legislatures. This was an
overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 132.

On or about the Sth day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP placed a second
telephone call to Vice President Mike Pence. During the telephone call, DONALD JOHN

TRUMP asked Pence if he had received a copy of a letter from a group of Pennsylvania
legislators urging Congress to return the state’s electoral college votes and stated to Pence, “You

gotta be tough tomorrow.” This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
Act 133.

On or about the Sth day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP issued a
statement through the Trump Campaign that falsely stated, “The Vice President and I are in total
agreement that the Vice President has the power to act. ... Our Vice President has several options
under the U.S. Constitution. He can decertify the results or send them back to the states for
change and certification. He can also decertify the illegal and corrupt results and send them to
the House of Representatives for the one vote for one state tabulation.” This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 134,

On or about the 6th day of January 2021, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM placed a
telephone call to SCOTT GRAHAM HALL. Several hours later, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL
placed a telephone call to CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM. During at least one of the phone
calls, they discussed SCOTT GRAHAM HALL'’s request to assist with the unlawful breach of
election equipment at the Coffee County Board of Elections & Registration Office in Coffee
County, Georgia. These were overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 135.

On or about the 6th day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP appeared and
spoke at a rally at the Ellipse in Washington, D.C. During the rally, DONALD JOHN TRUMP
made false statements concerning fraud in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia and elsewhere, solicited Vice President Mike Pence to disrupt and delay the joint session
of Congress on January 6, 2021, the day prescribed by law for counting votes cast by the duly
elected and qualified presidential electors from Georgia and the other states, and encouraged
those in attendance at the rally to inarch to the United States Capitol. This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 136.

On or about the 6th day of January 2021, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI
appeared and spoke at a rally at the Ellipse in Washington, D.C. During the rally, RUDOLPH
WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI made false statements concerning fraud in the November 3,
2020, presidential election in Georgia and elsewhere and solicited Vice President Mike Pence to
disrupt and delay the joint session of Congress on January 6, 2021, the day prescribed by law for
counting votes cast by the duly elected and qualified presidential electors from Georgia and the
other states. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 137,

On or about the 6th day of January 2021, JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN appeared and
spoke at a rally at the Ellipse in Washington, D.C. During the rally, JOHN CHARLES
EASTMAN made false statements concerning fraud in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election and solicited Vice President Mike Pence to disrupt and delay the joint session of
Congress on January 6, 2021, the day prescribed by law for counting votes cast by the duly
elected and qualified presidential electors from Georgia and the other states. This was an overt
act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 138,

On or about the 6th day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be
tweeted from the Twitter account @RealDonald Trump, “If Vice President @Mike_Pence comes
through for us, we will win the Presidency. Many States want to decertify the mistake they made
in certifying incorrect & even fraudulent numbers in a process NOT approved by their State
Legislatures (which it must be). Mike can send it back!” This was an overt act in furtherance of
the conspiracy.

Act 139.

On or about the 6th day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP caused to be
tweeted from the Twitter account @RealDonaldTrump, “States want to correct their votes, which
they now know were based on irregularities and fraud, plus corrupt process never received
legislative approval. All Mike Pence has to do is send them back to the States, AND WE WIN.
Do it Mike, this is a time for extreme courage!” This was an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.

Act 140.

On or about the 6th day of January 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP placed a
telephone call to Vice President Mike Pence and solicited him to disrupt and delay the joint
session of Congress on January 6, 2021, the day prescribed by law for counting votes cast by the
duly elected and qualified presidential electors from Georgia and the other states. When Pence
refused, DONALD JOHN TRUMP stated that Pence would “go down as a wimp” and that
Pence was not protecting the United States. This was an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.
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Act 141.

On or about the 6th day of January 2021, JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN sent an e-
mail to Counsel to the Vice President Greg Jacob that stated:

“The Senate and House have both violated the Electoral Count Act this evening —
they debated the Arizona objections for more than 2 hours. Violation of 3 USC

17. And the VP allowed further debate or statements by leadership after the
question had been voted upon. Violation of 3 USC 17. And they had that debate
upon motion approved by the VP, in violation of the requirement in 3 USC 15 that
after the vote in the separate houses, ‘they shall immediately again meet.’

So now that the precedent has been set that the Electoral Count Act is not quite so
sacrosanct as was previously claimed, I implore you to consider one more
relatively minor violation and adjourn for 10 days to allow the legislatures to
finish their investigations, as well as to allow a full forensic audit of the massive
amount of illegal activity that has occurred here. If none of that moves the
needle, at least a good portion of the 75 million people who supported President
Trump will have seen a process that allowed the illegality to be aired.

John”
This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
Act 142.

On or about the 7th day of January 2021, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM sent a
text message to the Chief Operations Officer of SullivanStrickler LLC with the address for the
Douglas Municipal Airport in Coffee County, Georgia, to coordinate picking up SCOTT
GRAHAM HALL from the airport and driving him to the Coffee County Board of Elections &
Registration Office for the purpose of assisting with the unlawful breach of election equipment at
the Coffee County Board of Elections & Registration Office. This was an act of racketeering
activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(B) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 143.

On or about the 7th day of January 2021, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL and unindicted
co-conspirator Individual 24, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, flew from DeKalb-
Peachtree Airport in DeKalb County, Georgia, to Douglas Municipal Airport in Coffee County,
Georgia, for the purpose of assisting with the unlawful breach of election equipment at the
Coffee County Board of Elections & Registration Office. This was an act of racketeering activity
under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(B) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 144.

On or about the 7th day of January 2021, SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL,
CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON
committed the felony offense of INTERFERENCE WITH PRIMARIES AND ELECTIONS,
in violation of 0.C.G.A. § 21-2-566, in Coffee County, Georgia, by willfully and unlawfully
tampering with electronic ballot markers and tabulating machines in Coffee County, Georgia.
This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 145.

On or about the 7th day of January 2021, SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL,
CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON
committed the felony offense of UNLAWFUL POSSESSION OF BALLOTS, in violation of
0.C.G.A. § 21-2-574, in Coffee County, Georgia, by causing certain members of the conspiracy,
who were not officers charged by law with the care of ballots and who were not persons
entrusted by any such officer with the care of ballots for a purpose required by law, to possess
official ballots outside of the polling place in Coffee County, Georgia. This was an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 146.

On or about the 7th day of January 2021, SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL,
CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON
committed the felony offense of COMPUTER THEFT, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-9-93(a),
in Coffee County, Georgia, by using a computer with knowledge that such use was without
authority and with the intention of taking and appropriating information, data, and software, the
property of Dominion Voting Systems Corporation in Coffee County, Georgia. This was an act of
racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xix) and an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.

Act 147.

On or about the 7th day of January 2021, SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL,
CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON
committed the felony offense of COMPUTER TRESPASS, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-9-
93(b), in Coffee County, Georgia, by using a computer with knowledge that such use was
without authority and with the intention of removing voter data and Dominion Voting Systems
Corporation data from said computer in Coffee County, Georgia. This was an act of racketeering
activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xix) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 148.

On or about the 7th day of January 2021, SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL,
CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON
committed the felony offense of COMPUTER INVASION OF PRIVACY, in violation of
0.C.G.A. § 16-9-93(c), in Coffee County, Georgia, by using a computer with the intention of
examining personal voter data with knowledge that such examination was without authority. This
was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xix) and an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 149.

On and between the 6th day of December 2020 and the 7th day of January 2021,
SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM
HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON committed the felony offense of CONSPIRACY TO
DEFRAUD THE STATE, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-10-21, in Coffee County, Georgia, by
unlawfully conspiring and agreeing to commit theft of voter data, property which was under the
control of Georgia Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger, a state officer, in his official capacity.
This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(B) and an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 150.

On or about the 9th day of January 2021, the 10th day of January 2021, the 11th day
of January 2021, and the 13th day of January 2021, unindicted co-conspirator Individual 25,
whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, unlawfully accessed certain data copied from
Dominion Voting Systems equipment at the Coffee County Board of Elections & Registration
Office in Coffee County, Georgia, by downloading said data from a server maintained by
SullivanStrickler LLC. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(B)
and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 151.

On or about the 9th day of January 2021, the 10th day of January 2021, the 11th day
of January 2021, the 18th day of January 2021, and the 19th day of January 2021,
unindicted co-conspirator Individual 26, whose identity is unknown to the Grand Jury,
unlawfully accessed certain data copied from Dominion Voting Systems equipment at the Coffee
County Board of Elections & Registration Office in Coffee County, Georgia, by downloading
said data from a server maintained by SullivanStrickler LLC. This was an act of racketeering
activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(B) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 152.

On or about the 10th day of January 2021, the 12th day of January 2021, the 13th
day of January 2021, the 25th day of February 2021, and the 26th day of February 2021,
unindicted co-conspirator Individual 27, whose identity is unknown to the Grand Jury,
unlawfully accessed certain data copied from Dominion Voting Systems equipment at the Coffee
County Board of Elections & Registration Office in Coffee County, Georgia, by downloading
said data from a server maintained by SullivanStrickler LLC. This was an act of racketeering
activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(B) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 153.

On or about the 13th day of January 2021, unindicted co-conspirator Individual 28,
whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, unlawfully accessed certain data copied from
Dominion Voting Systems equipment at the Coffee County Board of Elections & Registration
Office in Coffee County, Georgia, by downloading said data from a server maintained by
SullivanStrickler LLC. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(B)
and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 154.

On or about the 18th day of January 2021, MISTY HAMPTON allowed unindicted co-
conspirators Individual 25 and Individual 29, whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, to
access non-public areas of the Coffee County Board of Elections & Registration Office in Coffee
County, Georgla and facilitated their access to Dominion Votmg Systems equipment. This was
an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 155.

On or about the 22nd day of April 2021, unindicted co-conspirator Individual 28, whose
identity is known to the Grand Jury, sent an e-mail to the Chief Operations Officer of
SullivanStrickler LLC directing him to transmit all data copied from Dominion Voting Systems
equipment at the Coffee County Board of Elections & Registration Office in Coffee County,
Georgia, to unindicted co-conspirator Individual 30, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury,
an attorney associated with SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL and the Trump Campaign. This
was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(B) and an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 156.

On or about the 17th day of September 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP committed
the felony offense of SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH BY PUBLIC OFFICER,
in violation of O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 and 16-10-1, in Fulton County, Georgia, by unlawfully
soliciting, requesting, and importuning Georgia Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger, a public
officer, to engage in conduct constituting the felony offense of Violation of Oath by Public
Officer, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by unlawfully “decertifying the Election, or whatever the correct
legal remedy is, and announce the true winner,” in willful and intentional violation of the terms
of the oath of said person as prescribed by law, with intent that said person engage in said
conduct. This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Act 157,

On or about the 17th day of September 2021, DONALD JOHN TRUMP committed the
felony offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-
10-20, in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully making the following
false statement and representation to Georgia Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger:

1. “As stated to you previously, the number of false and/or irregular votes is far greater than
needed to change the Georgia election result”;

said statement being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies. This was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-
14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 158.

On or about the 25th day of April 2022, DAVID JAMES SHAFER committed the
felony offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-
10-20, in Fulton County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully making at least one of
the following false statements and representations in the presence of Fulton County District
Attorney’s Office investigators:

1. That he “attended and convened” the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump presidential
elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia, but that he did not “call each of the
individual members and notify them of the meeting or make any of the other preparations
necessary for the meeting”;

2. That a court reporter was not present at the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump
presidential elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Fulton County District Attorney’s Office, a
department and agency of the government of a county of this state. This was an act of
racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxii) and an overt act in furtherance of the

conspiracy.
Act 159.

On or about the 7th day of May 2022, SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL made at least
one of the following false statements and representations in a sworn deposition with the United
States House of Representatives Select Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on the
United States Capitol:

1. That she “didn’t have any role in really setting up” efforts to access voting machines in
Coffee County, Georgia, or Antrim County, Michigan;

2. That she was aware there was an “effort by some people” to get access to voting -
machines in Georgia but that she did not “know what happened with that” and did not

“remember whether that was Rudy or other folks.”

This was an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 160.

On or about the 1st day of September 2022, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM
committed the felony offense of PERJURY, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-10-70(a), in Houston
County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully making at least one of the following
false statements in a deposition in the matter of Curling v. Raffensperger, Case 1:17-cv-02989-
AT in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, a judicial proceeding,
after having been administered a lawful oath:

1. That she was only present at the Coffee County Board of Elections & Registration Office
in Coffee County, Georgia, for “just a few minutes” on January 7, 2021;

2. That she only “walked into the front part” of the Coffee County Board of Elections &
Registration Office on January 7, 2021, and “didn’t go into the office”;

3. That she had “no idea” if employees of SullivanStrickler met Eric Chaney at the Coffee
County Board of Elections & Registration Office on January 7, 2021;

4. That she did not see Misty Hampton at the Coffee County Board of Elections &
Registration Office on January 7, 2021;

5. That her only interaction with Scott Hall at the Coffee County Board of Elections &
Registration Office on January 7, 2021, was meeting him, speaking to him outside of the
office, and then leaving the office;

6. That she did not see Scott Hall speak to anyone other than herself at the Coffee County
Board of Elections & Registration Office on January 7, 2021;

said statements being material to the accused’s own involvement in the January 7, 2021,
unlawful breach of election equipment at the Coffee County Board of Elections & Registration
Office and to the accused’s communications with others involved, the issues in question. This
was an act of racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxv) and an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Act 161.

On or about the 15th day of September 2022, ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY
committed the felony offense of PERJURY, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-10-70(a), in Fulton
County, Georgia, by knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully making at least one of the following
false statements before the Fulton County Special Purpose ‘Grand Jury, a judicial proceeding,
after having been administered a lawful oath:

1. That he was unaware of the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump presidential elector
nominees in Fulton County, Georgia, until after the meeting had already taken place;

2. That he had no substantive conversations with anyone concerning the December 14,
2020, meeting of Trump presidential elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia, until
after the meeting had already taken place;

3. That he never suggested to anyone that the Trump presidential elector nominees in
Georgia should meet on December 14, 2020,

4. That the only communication he had with John Eastman concerning the November 3,
2020, presidential election was for the purpose of connecting Eastman to Georgia Senator
Brandon Beach and unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8, whose identity is known to
the Grand Jury, for possible legal representation;

5. That he never wotrked to connect John Eastman with any Georgia legislators other than
Georgia Senator Brandon Beach and unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8, whose
identity is known to the Grand Jury;

said statements being material to the accused’s own involvement in the December 14, 2020,
meeting of Trump presidential elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia, and to the accused’s
communications with others involved in the meeting, the issues in question. This was an act of
racketeering activity under O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(A)(xxv) and an overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.

The acts set forth above were committed in furtherance of the conspiracy alleged above
and had the same and similar intents, results, accomplices, victims, and methods of commission
and otherwise were interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and were not isolated acts.
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COUNT 2 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI, JOHN CHARLES
EASTMAN, JENNA LYNN ELLIS, and RAY STALLINGS SMITH III with the offense of
SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH BY PUBLIC OFFICER, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7
& 16-10-1, for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a
crime, and together with unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of
Georgia, on the 3rd day of December 2020, unlawfully solicited, requested, and importuned
certain public officers then serving as elected members of the Georgia Senate and.present at a
Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting, including unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8,
whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, Senators Lee Anderson, Brandon Beach, Matt Brass,
Greg Dolezal, Steve Gooch, Tyler Harper, Bill Heath, Jen Jordan, John F. Kennedy, William
Ligon, Elena Parent, Michael Rhett, Carden Summers, and Blake Tillery, to engage in conduct
constituting the felony offense of Violation of Oath by Public Officer, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by
unlawfully appointing presidential electors from the State of Georgia, in willful and intentional
violation of the terms of the oath of said persons as prescribed by law, with intent that said
persons engage in said conduct, said date being a material element of the offense, contrary to the -
laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;

COUNT 3 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI with the offense of FALSE
STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, for the said accused, in the County
of Fulton and State of Georgia, on or about the 3rd day of December 2020, knowingly, willfully,
and unlawfully made at least one of the following false statements and representations to '
members of the Georgia Senate present at a Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting:

1. That at least 96,600 mail-in ballots were counted in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in Georgia, despite there being no record of those ballots having been returned to
a county elections office;

2. That a Dominion Voting Systems machine used in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in Antrim County, Michigan, mistakenly recorded 6,000 votes for Joseph R.
Biden when the votes were actually cast for Donald Trump;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and
dignity thereof;
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COUNT 4 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do

charge and accuse RAY STALLINGS SMITH III with the offense of FALSE STATEMENTS
AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, for the said accused, in the County of Fulton and
State of Georgia, on or about the 3rd day of December 2020, knowingly, willfully, and
unlawfully made at least one of the following false statements and representations to members of
the Georgia Senate present at a Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting:

1.

That 2,506 felons voted illegally in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia; '

That 66,248 underage people illegally registered to vote before their seventeenth birthday
prior to the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia;

That at least 2,423 people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia who were not listed as registered to vote;

That 1,043 people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia who
had illegally registered to vote using a post office box;

That 10,315 or more dead people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia;

That Fulton County election workers at State Farm Arena ordered poll watchers and
members of the media to leave the tabulation area on the night of November 3, 2020, and
continued to operate after ordering everyone to leave;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and
dignity thereof;
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COUNT 5 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP with the offense of SOLICITATION OF
VIOLATION OF OATH BY PUBLIC OFFICER, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1, for the
said accused, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on or about the 7th day of
December 2020, unlawfully solicited, requested, and importuned Speaker of the Georgia House
of Representatives David Ralston, a public officer, to engage in conduct constituting the felony
offense of Violation of Oath by Public Officer, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by calling for a special
session of the Georgia General Assembly for the purpose of unlawfully appointing presidential
electors from the State of Georgia, in willful and intentional violation of the terms of the oath of
said person as prescribed by law, with intent that said person engage in said conduct, contrary to
the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;

COUNT 6 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI and RAY STALLINGS
SMITH III with the offense of SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH BY PUBLIC
OFFICER, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1, for the said accused, individually and as persons
concerned in the commission of a crime, and together with unindicted co-conspirators, in the
County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on the 10th day of December 2020, unlawfully solicited,
requested, and importuned certain public officers then serving as elected members of the Georgia
House of Representatives and present at a House Governmental Affairs Committee meeting,
including Representatives Shaw Blackmon, Jon Burns, Barry Fleming, Todd Jones, Bee Nguyen,
Mary Margaret Oliver, Alan Powell, Renitta Shannon, Robert Trammell, Scot Turner, and Bruce
Williamson, to engage in conduct constituting the felony offense of Violation of Oath by Public
Officer, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by unlawfully appointing presidential electors from the State of
Georgia, in willful and intentional violation of the terms of the oath of said persons as prescribed
by law, with intent that said persons engage in said conduct, said date being a material element of
the offense, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 7 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI with the offense of FALSE
STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, for the said accused, in the County
of Fulton and State of Georgia, on or about the 10th day of December 2020, knowingly,
willfully, and unlawfully made at least one of the following false statements and representations
to members of the Georgia House of Representatives present at a House Governmental Affairs
Committee meeting:

1. That it is quite clear from the State Farm Arena video from November 3, 2020, that
Fulton County election workers were stealing votes and that Georgia officials were
covering up a crime in plain sight;

2. That at State Farm Arena on November 3, 2020, Democratic officials “got rid of all of the
reporters, all the observers, anyone that couldn’t be trusted,” used the excuse of a
watermain break, cleared out the voting area and then “went about their dirty, crooked
business”;

3. That between 12,000 and 24,000 ballots were illegally counted by Fulton County election
workers at State Farm Arena on November 3, 2020;

4. That in Michigan, there were 700,000 more ballots counted than were sent out to voters
in the November 3, 2020, presidential election, which was accounted for by quadruple
counting ballots;

5. That Ruby Freeman, Shaye Moss, and an unidentified man were “quite obviously
surreptitiously passing around USB ports as if they’re vials of heroin or cocaine” at State
Farm Arena to be used to “infiltrate the crooked Dominion voting machines”;

6. That 96,600 mail-in ballots were counted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election
in Georgia, despite there being no record of those ballots having been returned to a
county elections office;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and
dignity thereof;
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COUNT 8 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DAVID JAMES SHAFER, SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL, and
CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM with the offense of IMPERSONATING A PUBLIC
OFFICER, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-23, for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in
the commission of a crime, and together with unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton
and State of Georgia, on or about the 14th day of December 2020, unlawfully falsely held
themselves out as the duly elected and qualified presidential electors from the State of Georgia,
public officers, with intent to mislead the President of the United States Senate, the Archivist of
the United States, the Georgia Secretary of State, and the Chief Judge of the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Georgia into believing that they actually were such
officers by placing in the United States mail to said persons a document titled “CERTIFICATE
OF THE VOTES OF THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM GEORGIA,” contrary to the laws of said
State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;

COUNT 9 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI,
JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO, RAY STALLINGS
SMITH III, ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY, and MICHAEL A. ROMAN with the offense of
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT IMPERSONATING A PUBLIC OFFICER, O.C.G.A. §§
16-4-8 & 16-10-23, for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the
commission of a crime, and together with indicted and unindicted co-conspirators, in the County
of Fulton and State of Georgia, on and between the 6th day of December 2020 and the 14th
day of December 2020, unlawfully conspired to cause certain individuals to falsely hold
themselves out as the duly elected and qualified presidential electors from the State of Georgia,
public officers, with intent to mislead the President of the United States Senate, the Archivist of
the United States, the Georgia Secretary of State, and the Chief Judge of the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Georgia into believing that they actually were such
officers;

And the Defendants named in Count 8, acting as co-conspirators, as described above and
incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, falsely held themselves out as said public
officers by placing in the United States mail to said persons a document titled “CERTIFICATE
OF THE VOTES OF THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM GEORGIA” in Fulton County, Georgia,
which was an overt act to effect the object of the conspiracy, contrary to the laws of said State,
the good order, peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 10 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DAVID JAMES SHAFER, SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL, and
CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM with the offense of FORGERY IN THE FIRST
DEGREE, O.C.G.A. § 16-9-1(b), for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in
the commission of a crime, and together with unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton
and State of Georgia, on or about the 14th day of December 2020, unlawfully and with the
intent to defraud, knowingly made a document titled “CERTIFICATE OF THE VOTES OF THE
2020 ELECTORS FROM GEORGIA,” a writing other than a check, in such manner that the
writing as made purports to have been made by authority of the duly elected and qualified
presidential electors from the State of Georgia, who did not give such authority, and uttered and
delivered said document to the Archivist of the United States, contrary to the laws of said State,
the good order, peace and dignity thereof;

COUNT 11 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI,
JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO, RAY STALLINGS
SMITH III, ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY, and MICHAEL A. ROMAN with the offense of
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT FORGERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8
& 16-9-1(b), for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a
crime, and together with indicted and unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and
State of Georgia, on and between the 6th day of December 2020 and the 14th day of
December 2020, unlawfully conspired, with the intent to defraud, to knowingly make a
document titled “CERTIFICATE OF THE VOTES OF THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM
GEORGIA,” a writing other than a check, in such manner that the writing as made purports to
have been made by authority of the duly elected and qualified presidential electors from the State
of Georgia, who did not give such authority, and to utter and deliver said document to the
Archivist of the United States;

And the Defendants named in Count 10, acting as co-conspirators, as described above
and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, made said document in Fulton County,
Georgia, and uttered and delivered said document to the Archivist of the United States in Fulton
County, Georgia, which were overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy, contrary to the
laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 12 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DAVID JAMES SHAFER, SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL, and
CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM with the offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND
WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned
in the commission of a crime, and together with unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of
Fulton and State of Georgia, on or about the 14th day of December 2020, knowingly, willfully,
and unlawfully made and used a false document titled “CERTIFICATE OF THE VOTES OF
THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM GEORGIA,” with knowledge that said document contained the
false statement, “WE, THE UNDERSIGNED, being the duly elected and qualified Electors for
President and Vice President of the United States of America from the State of Georgia, do
hereby certify the following,” said document being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the
Georgia Secretary of State and the Office of the Governor of Georgia, departments and agencies
of state government, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;

COUNT 13 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI,
JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO, RAY STALLINGS
SMITH III, ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY, and MICHAEL A. ROMAN with the offense of
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-
4-8 & 16-10-20, for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission
of a crime, and together with indicted and unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton
and State of Georgia, on and between the 6th day of December 2020 and the 14th day of
December 2020, unlawfully conspired to knowingly and willfully make and use a false
document titled “CERTIFICATE OF THE VOTES OF THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM
GEORGIA,” with knowledge that said document contained the false statement, “WE, THE
UNDERSIGNED, being the duly elected and qualified Electors for President and Vice President
of the United States of America from the State of Georgia, do hereby certify the following,” said
document being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and the
Office of the Governor of Georgia, departments and agencies of state government;

And the Defendants named in Count 12, acting as co-conspirators, as described above
and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, made and used said document in Fulton
County, Georgia, which were overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy, contrary to the
laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 14 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DAVID JAMES SHAFER, SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL, and
CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM with the offense of CRIMINAL ATTEMPT TO
COMMIT FILING FALSE DOCUMENTS, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-1 & 16-10-20.1(b)(1), for the
said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and together
with unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on or about the
14th day of December 2020, unlawfully, with intent to commit the crime of Filing False
Documents, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20.1(b)(1), placed in the United States mail a document titled
“CERTIFICATE OF THE VOTES OF THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM GEORGIA,” addressed
to Chief Judge, U.S. District Court, Northern District of Georgia, 2188 Richard D. Russell
Federal Office Building and U.S. Courthouse, 75 Ted Turner Drive, SW, Atlanta, GA 30303, a
substantial step toward the commission of Filing False Documents, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20.1(b)(1),
with intent to knowingly file, enter, and record said document in a court of the United States,
having reason to know that said document contained the materially false statement, “WE, THE
UNDERSIGNED, being the duly elected and qualified Electors for President and Vice President
of the United States of America from the State of Georgia, do hereby certify the following,”
contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;

COUNT 15 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI,
JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO, RAY STALLINGS
SMITH III, ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY, and MICHAEL A. ROMAN with the offense of
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT FILING FALSE DOCUMENTS, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8 & 16-
10-20.1(b)(1), for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission of
a crime, and together with indicted and unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and
State of Georgia, on and between the 6th day of December 2020 and the 14th day of
December 2020, unlawfully conspired to knowingly file, enter, and record a document titled
“CERTIFICATE OF THE VOTES OF THE 2020 ELECTORS FROM GEORGIA,” in a court of
the United States, having reason to know that said document contained the materially false
statement, “WE, THE UNDERSIGNED, being the duly elected and qualified Electors for
President and Vice President of the United States of America from the State of Georgia, do
hereby certify the following”;

And the Defendants named in Count 14, acting as co-conspirators, as described above
and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, placed in the United States mail said
document, addressed to Chief Judge, U.S. District Court, Northern District of Georgia, 2188
Richard D. Russell Federal Office Building and U.S. Courthouse, 75 Ted Turner Drive, SW,
Atlanta, GA 30303, in Fulton County, Georgia, which was an overt act to effect the object of the
conspiracy, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 16 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DAVID JAMES SHAFER and SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL with
the offense of FORGERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE, O.C.G.A. § 16-9-1(b), for the said
accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and together with
unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on or about the 14th
day of December 2020, unlawfully and with the intent to defraud, knowingly made a document
titled “RE: Notice of Filling of Electoral College Vacancy,” a writing other than a check, in such .
manner that the writing as made purports to have been made by the authority of the duly elected
and qualified presidential electors from the State of Georgia, who did not give such authority,
and uttered and delivered said document to the Archivist of the United States and the Office of
the Governor of Georgia, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity
thereof;

COUNT 17 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI,
JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO, RAY STALLINGS
SMITH III, ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY, and MICHAEL A. ROMAN with the offense of
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT FORGERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8
& 16-9-1(b), for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a
crime, and together with indicted and unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and
State of Georgia, on and between the 6th day of December 2020 and the 14th day of
December 2020, unlawfully conspired, with the intent to defraud, to knowingly make a
document titled “RE: Notice of Filling of Electoral College Vacancy,” a writing other than a
check, in such manner that the writing as made purports to have been made by the authority of
the duly elected and qualified presidential electors from the State of Georgia, who did not give
such authority, and to utter and deliver said document to the Archivist of the United States and
the Office of the Governor of Georgia;

And the Defendants named in Count 16, acting as co-conspirators, as described above
and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, made said document in Fulton County,
Georgia, and uttered and delivered said document to the Archivist of the United States and the
Office of the Governor of Georgia in Fulton County, Georgia, which were overt acts to effect the
object of the conspiracy, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity
thereof;
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COUNT 18 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DAVID JAMES SHAFER and SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL with
the offense of FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, for the said
accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and together with
unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on or about the 14th
day of December 2020, knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully made and used a false docunient
titled “RE: Notice of Filling of Electoral College Vacancy,” with knowledge that said document
contained the false statements that DAVID JAMES SHAFER was Chairman of the 2020
Georgia Electoral College Meeting and SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL was Secretary of
the 2020 Georgia Electoral College Meeting, said document being within the jurisdiction of the
Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and the Office of the Governor of Georgia, departments
and agencies of state government, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and
dignity thereof;,

COUNT 19 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP, RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI,
JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN, KENNETH JOHN CHESEBRO, RAY STALLINGS
SMITH III, ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY and MICHAEL A. ROMAN with the offense of
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-
4-8 & 16-10-20, for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission
of a crime, and together with indicted and unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton
and State of Georgia, on and between the 6th day of December 2020 and the 14th day of
December 2020, unlawfully conspired to knowingly and willfully make and use a false
document titled “RE: Notice of Filling of Electoral College Vacancy,” with knowledge that said
document contained the false statements that DAVID JAMES SHAFER was Chairman of the
2020 Georgia Electoral College Meeting and SHAWN MICAH TRESHER STILL was
Secretary of the 2020 Georgia Electoral College Meeting, said document being within the
jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and the Office of the Governor of
Georgia, departments and agencies of state government;

And the Defendants named in Count 18, acting as co-conspirators, as described above
and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, made and used said document in Fulton -
County, Georgia, which were overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy, contrary to the
laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 20 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE with the offense of CRIMINAL
ATTEMPT TO COMMIT INFLUENCING WITNESSES, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-1 & 16-10-
93(b)(1)(A), for the said accused, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on the 14th day
of December 2020, unlawfully, with intent to commit the crime of Influencing Witnesses,
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-93(b)(1)(A), traveled to the home of Ruby Freeman, a Fulton County,
Georgia, election worker, and spoke to her neighbor, a substantial step toward the commission of
Influencing Witnesses, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-93(b)(1)(A), with intent to knowingly engage in
misleading conduct toward Ruby Freeman, by purporting to offer her help, and with intent to
influence her testimony in an official proceeding in Fulton County, Georgia, concerning events
at State Farm Arena in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia, said date being a
material element of the offense, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and
dignity thereof;

COUNT 21 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE with the offense of CRIMINAL
ATTEMPT TO COMMIT INFLUENCING WITNESSES, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-1 & 16-10-
93(b)(1)(A), for the said accused, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on the 15th day
of December 2020, unlawfully, with intent to commit the crime of Influencing Witnesses,
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-93(b)(1)(A), traveled to the home of Ruby Freeman, a Fulton County,
Georgia, election worker, and knocked on her door, a substantial step toward the commission of
Influencing Witnesses, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-93(b)(1)(A), with intent to knowingly engage in
misleading conduct toward Ruby Freeman, by purporting to offer her help, and with intent to
influence her testimony in an official proceeding in Fulton County, Georgia, concerning events
at State Farm Arena in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia, said date being a
material element of the offense, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and
dignity thereof;,
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COUNT 22 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse JEFFREY BOSSERT CLARK with the offense of CRIMINAL ATTEMPT
TO COMMIT FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-1 & 16-10-20,
for the said accused, individually and as a person concerned in the commission of a crime, and
together with unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on and
between the 28th day of December 2020 and the 2nd day of January 2021, unlawfully, with
intent to commit the crime of False Statements and Writings, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, knowingly
and willfully made a false writing and document knowing the same to contain the false statement
that the United States Department of Justice had “identified significant concerns that may have
impacted the outcome of the election in multiple States, including the State of Georgia,” said
statement being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and the
Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county and
city law enforcement agencies;

And, on or about the 28th day of December 2020, the said accused sent an e-mail to
Acting United States Attorney General Jeffrey Rosen and Acting United States Deputy Attorney
General Richard Donoghue and requested authorization to send said false writing and document
to Georgia Governor Brian Kemp, Speaker of the Georgia House of Representatives David
Ralston, and President Pro Tempore of the Georgia Senate Butch Miller;

And, on or about the 2nd day of January 2021, the said accused met with Acting United
States Attorney General Jeffrey Rosen and Acting United States Deputy Attorney General
Richard Donoghue and requested authorization to send said false writing and document to
Georgia Governor Brian Kemp, Speaker of the Georgia House of Representatives David Ralston,
and President Pro Tempore of the Georgia Senate Butch Miller;

And said acts constituted substantial steps toward the commission of False Statements
and Writings, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, and said conduct committed outside the state of Georgia
constituted an attempt to commit a crime within the state of Georgia, pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 17-
2-1(b)(2), contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 23 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI, RAY STALLINGS SMITH
II1, and ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY with the offense of SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION
OF OATH BY PUBLIC OFFICER, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1, for the said accused,
individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and together with
unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on the 30th day of
December 2020, unlawfully solicited, requested, and importuned certain public officers then
serving as elected members of the Georgia Senate and present at a Senate Judiciary
Subcommittee meeting, including unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8, whose identity is
known to the Grand Jury, Senators Brandon Beach, Bill Heath, William Ligon, Michael Rhett,
and Blake Tillery, to engage in conduct constituting the felony offense of Violation of Oath by
Public Officer, 0.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by unlawfully appointing presidential electors from the State
of Georgia, in willful and intentional violation of the terms of the oath of said persons as
prescribed by law, with intent that said persons engage in said conduct, said date being a material
element of the offense, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity
thereof;

COUNT 24 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse RUDOLPH WILLIAM LOUIS GIULIANI with the offense of FALSE
STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, for the said accused, in the County
of Fulton and State of Georgia, on or about the 30th day of December 2020, knowingly,
willfully, and unlawfully made at least one of the following false statements and representations
to members of the Georgia Senate present at a Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting:

1. That Fulton County election workers fraudulently counted certain ballots as many as five
times at State Farm Arena on November 3, 2020;

2. That 2,560 felons voted illegally in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia;

3. That 10,315 dead people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and

dignity thereof;
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COUNT 25 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse RAY STALLINGS SMITH III with the offense of FALSE STATEMENTS
AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, for the said accused, in the County of Fulton and
State of Georgia, on or about the 30th day of December 2020, knowingly, willfully, and
unlawfully made at least one of the following false statements and representations to members of
the Georgia Senate present at a Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting:

1. That Georgia Secretary of State General Counsel Ryan Germany stated that his office had
sent letters to 8,000 people who voted illegally in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election and told them not to vote in the January 5, 2021, runoff election;

2. That the Georgia Secretary of State admitted “that they had a 90% accuracy rate” in the
November 3, 2020, presidential election and that “there’s still a 10% margin that’s not

accurate”;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and

dignity thereof;

COUNT 26 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY with the offense of FALSE STATEMENTS
AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, for the said accused, in the County of Fulton and
State of Georgia, on or about the 30th day of December 2020, knowingly, willfully, and
unlawfully made at least one of the following false statements and representations to members of
the Georgia Senate present at a Senate Judiciary Subcommittee meeting:

1. That poll watchers and media at State Farm Arena were told late in the evening of
November 3, 2020, that the vote count was being suspended until the next morning and to
go home because of “a major watermain break™;

2. That Fulton County election workers at State Farm Arena “voted” the same ballots “over
and over again” on November 3, 2020;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and
dignity thereof;
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COUNT 27 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP and JOHN CHARLES EASTMAN with the
offense of FILING FALSE DOCUMENTS, 0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20.1(b)(1), for the said accused,
individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and together with
unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on or about the 31st
day of December 2020, knowingly and unlawfully filed a document titled “VERIFIED
COMPLAINT FOR EMERGENCY INJUNCTIVE AND DECLARATORY RELIEF” in the
matter of Trump v. Kemp, Case 1:20-cv-05310-MHC, in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Georgia, a court of the United States, having reason to know that said
document contained at least one of the following materially false statements:

1. That “as many as 2,506 felons with an uncompleted sentence” voted illegally in the
November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia;

2. That “at least 66,247 underage” people voted illegally in the November 3, 2020,
presidential election in Georgia,

3. That “at least 2,423 individuals” voted illegally in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in Georgia “who were not listed in the State’s records as having been registered
to vote™;

4. That “at least 1,043 individuals voted illegally in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election “who had illegally registered to vote using a postal office box as their
habitation”;

5. That “as many as 10,315 or more” dead people voted in the November 3, 2020,
presidential election in Georgia;

6. That “[d]eliberate misinformation was used to instruct Republican poll watchers and
members of the press to leave the premises for the night at approximately 10:00 p.m. on
November 3, 2020 at State Farm Arena in Fulton County, Georgia;

contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;,
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COUNT 28 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP and MARK RANDALL MEADOWS with the
offense of SOLICITATION OF VIOLATION OF OATH BY PUBLIC OFFICER, O.C.G.A.
§§ 16-4-7 & 16-10-1, for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the
commission of a crime, and together with unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton
and State of Georgia, on or about the 2nd day of January 2021, unlawfully solicited, requested,
and importuned Georgia Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger, a public officer, to engage in
conduct constituting the felony offense of Violation of Oath by Public Officer, 0.C.G.A. § 16-
10-1, by unlawfully altering, unlawfully adjusting, and otherwise unlawfully influencing the
certified returns for presidential electors for the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia, in willful and intentional violation of the terms of the oath of said person as prescribed
by law, with intent that said person engage in said conduct, contrary to the laws of said State, the
good order, peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 29 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, m the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP with the offense of FALSE STATEMENTS
AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, for the said accused, in the County of Fulton and
State of Georgia, on or about the 2nd day of January 2021, knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully
made at least one of the following false statements and representations to Georgia Secretary of
State Brad Raffensperger, Georgia Deputy Secretary of State Jordan Fuchs, and Georgia
Secretary of State General Counsel Ryan Germany:

1. That anywhere from 250,000 to 300,000 ballots were dropped mysteriously into the rolls
in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia;

2. That thousands of people attempted to vote in the November 3, 2020, presidential
election in Georgia and were told they could not because a ballot had already been cast in
their name;

3. That 4,502 people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia who
were not on the voter registration list;

4. That 904 people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia who
were registered at an address that was a post office box;

5. That Ruby Freeman was a professional vote scammer and a known political operative;

6. That Ruby Freeman, her daughter, and others were responsible for fraudulently awarding
at least 18,000 ballots to Joseph R. Biden at State Farm Arena in the November 3, 2020,
presidential election in Georgia;

7. That close to 5,000 dead people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Georgia;

8. That 139% of people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Detroit;

9. That 200,000 more votes were recorded than the number of people who voted in the
November 3, 2020, presidential election in Pennsylvania;

10. That thousands of dead people voted in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in
Michigan;

11. That Ruby Freeman stuffed the ballot boxes;
12. That hundreds of thousands of ballots had been “dumped” into Fulton County and

another county adjacent to Fulton County in the November 3, 2020, presidential election
in Georgia;
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13. That he won the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia by 400,000 votes;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, contrary to
the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;

COUNT 30 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE, HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT
FLOYD, and TREVIAN C. KUTTI with the offense of CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT
SOLICITATION OF FALSE STATEMENTS AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8, 16-4-
7, & 16-10-20, for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission of
a crime, and together with unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of
Georgia, on or about the 4th day of January 2021, unlawfully conspired to solicit, request, and
importune Ruby Freeman, a Fulton County, Georgia, election worker, to engage in conduct
constituting the felony offense of False Statements and Writings, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, by
knowingly and willfully making a false statement and representation concerning events at State
Farm Arena in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia, said statement and
representation being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies, with intent that said person engage in said conduct; and
TREVIAN C. KUTTI traveled to Fulton County, Georgia, and placed a telephone call to Ruby
Freeman while in Fulton County, Georgia, which were overt acts to effect the object of the
conspiracy, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;

COUNT 31 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse STEPHEN CLIFFGARD LEE, HARRISON WILLIAM PRESCOTT
FLOYD and TREVIAN C. KUTTI with the offense of INFLUENCING WITNESSES,
0.C.G.A. § 16-10-93(b)(1)(A), for the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in
the commission of a crime, and together with unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton
and State of Georgia, on or about the 4th day of January 2021, knowingly and unlawfully
engaged in misleading conduct toward Ruby Freeman, a Fulton County, Georgia, election
worker, by stating that she needed protection and by purporting to offer her help, with intent to
influence her testimony in an official proceeding in Fulton County, Georgia, concerning events
at State Farm Arena in the November 3, 2020, presidential election in Georgia, contrary to the
laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;,
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COUNT 32 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM,
SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON with the offense of CONSPIRACY TO
COMMIT ELECTION FRAUD, O.C.G.A. §§ 21-2-603 & 21-2-566, for the said accused,
individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and together with
unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on and between the 1st
day of December 2020 and the 7th day of January 2021, unlawfully conspired and agreed to
willfully tamper with electronic ballot markers and tabulating machines in the State of Georgia;

And SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL entered into a contract with SullivanStrickler
LLC in Fulton County, Georgia, delivered a payment to SullivanStrickler LLC in Fulton County,
Georgia, and caused employees of SullivanStrickler LLC to travel from Fulton County, Georgia,
to Coffee County, Georgia, for the purpose of willfully tampering with said electronic ballot
markers and tabulating machines, which were overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy;

And CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY
HAMPTON aided, abetted, and encouraged employees of SullivanStrickler LLC in willfully
tampering with electronic ballot markers and tabulating machines while inside the Coffee County
Elections & Registration Office in Coffee County, Georgia, which were overt acts to effect the
object of the conspiracy, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity
thereof;
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COUNT 33 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM,
SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON with the offense of CONSPIRACY TO
COMMIT ELECTION FRAUD, O.C.G.A. §§ 21-2-603 & 21-2-574, for the said accused,
individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and together with
unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on and between the 1st
day of December 2020 and the 7th day of January 2021, unlawfully conspired and agreed to
cause certain members of the conspiracy, who were not officers charged by law with the care of
ballots and who were not persons entrusted by any such officer with the care of ballots for a
purpose required by law, to possess official ballots outside of the polling place in the State of
Georgia;

And SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL entered into a contract with SullivanStrickler
LLC in Fulton County, Georgia, delivered a payment to SullivanStrickler LLC in Fulton County,
Georgia, and caused employees of SullivanStrickler LLC to travel from Fulton County, Georgia,
to Coffee County, Georgia, for the purpose of causing certain members of the conspiracy, who
were not officers charged by law with the care of ballots and who were not persons entrusted by
any such officer with the care of ballots for a purpose required by law, to possess official ballots
outside of the polling place, which were overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy;

And CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY
HAMPTON aided, abetted, and encouraged employees of SullivanStrickler LLC in accessing
election equipment while inside the Coffee County Elections & Registration Office in Coffee
County, Georgia, for the purpose of causing certain members of the conspiracy, who were not
officers charged by law with the care of ballots and who were not persons entrusted by any such
officer with the care of ballots for a purpose required by law, to possess official ballots outside of
the polling place, which were overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy, contrary to the
laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 34 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM,
SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON with the offense of CONSPIRACY TO
COMMIT COMPUTER THEFT, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8 & 16-9-93(a), for the said accused,
individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and together with
unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on and between the 1st
day of December 2020 and the 7th day of January 2021, unlawfully conspired to use a
computer with knowledge that such use was without authority and with the intention of taking
and appropriating information, data, and software, the property of Dominion Voting Systems
Corporation,

And SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL entered into a contract with SullivanStrickler
LLC in Fulton County, Georgia, delivered a payment to SullivanStrickler LLC in Fulton County,
Georgia, and caused employees of SullivanStrickler LLC to travel from Fulton County, Georgia,
to Coffee County, Georgia, for the purpose of using a computer with knowledge that such use
was without authority and with the intention of taking and appropriating information, data, and
software, the property of Dominion Voting Systems Corporation, which were overt acts to effect
the object of the conspiracy;

And CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY
HAMPTON aided, abetted, and encouraged employees of SullivanStrickler LLC in using a
“computer with knowledge that such use was without authority and with the intention of taking
and appropriating information, data, and software, the property of Dominion Voting Systems
Corporation, while inside the Coffee County Elections & Registration Office in Coffee County,
Georgia, which were overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy, contrary to the laws of said
State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 35 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM,
SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON with the offense of CONSPIRACY TO
COMMIT COMPUTER TRESPASS, 0.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8 & 16-9-93(b), for the said accused,
individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and together with
unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on and between the 1st
day of December 2020 and the 7th day of January 2021, unlawfully conspired to use a
computer with knowledge that such use was without authority and with the intention of removing
voter data and Dominion Voting Systems Corporation data from said computer;

And SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL entered into a contract with SullivanStrickler
LLC in Fulton County, Georgia, delivered a payment to SullivanStrickler LLC in Fulton County,
Georgia, and caused employees of SullivanStrickler LLC to travel from Fulton County, Georgia,
to Coffee County, Georgia, for the purpose of using a computer with knowledge that such use
was without authority and with the intention of removing voter data and Dominion Voting
Systems Corporation data from said computer, which were overt acts to effect the object of the
conspiracy;

And CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY
HAMPTON aided, abetted, and encouraged employees of SullivanStrickler LLC in using a
computer with knowledge that such use was without authority and with the intention of removing
voter data and Dominion Voting Systems Corporation data from said computer, while inside the
Coffee County Elections & Registration Office in Coffee County, Georgia, which were overt
acts to effect the object of the conspiracy, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order,
peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 36 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM,
SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON with the offense of CONSPIRACY TO
COMMIT COMPUTER INVASION OF PRIVACY, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-8 & 16-9-93(c), for
the said accused, individually and as persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and
together with unindicted co-conspirators, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on and
between the 1st day of December 2020 and the 7th day of January 2021, unlawfully conspired
to use a computer with the intention of examining personal voter data with knowledge that such
examination was without authority;

And SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL entered into a contract with SullivanStrickler
LLC in Fulton County, Georgia, delivered a payment to SullivanStrickler LLC in Fulton County,
Georgia, and caused employees of SullivanStrickler LLC to travel from Fulton County, Georgia,
to Coffee County, Georgia, for the purpose of using a computer with the intention of examining
personal voter data with knowledge that such examination was without authority, which were
overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy;

And CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY
HAMPTON aided, abetted, and encouraged employees of SullivanStrickler LLC in using a
computer with the intention of examining personal voter data with knowledge that such
examination was without authority, while inside the Coffee County Elections & Registration
Office in Coffee County, Georgia, which were overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy,
contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof;
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COUNT 37 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL, CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM,
SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY HAMPTON with the offense of CONSPIRACY TO
DEFRAUD THE STATE, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-21, for the said accused, individually and as
persons concerned in the commission of a crime, and together with unindicted co-conspirators, in
the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on and between the 1st day of December 2020 and
the 7th day of January 2021, unlawfully conspired and agreed to commit theft of voter data,
property which was under the control of Georgia Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger, a state
officer, in his official capacity;

And SIDNEY KATHERINE POWELL entered into a contract with SullivanStrickler
LLC in Fulton County, Georgia, delivered a payment to SullivanStrickler LLC in Fulton County,
Georgia, and caused employees of SullivanStrickler LLC to travel from Fulton County, Georgia,
to Coffee County, Georgia, for the purpose of committing theft of voter data, property which was
under the control of Georgia Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger, a state officer, in his official
capacity, which were overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy;

And CATHLEEN ALSTON LATHAM, SCOTT GRAHAM HALL, and MISTY
HAMPTON aided, abetted, and encouraged employees of SullivanStrickler LLC in accessing
election equipment while inside the Coffee County Elections & Registration Office in Douglas,
Georgia, for the purpose of committing theft of voter data, property which was under the control
of Georgia Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger, a state officer, in his official capacity, which
were overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy, contrary to the laws of said State, the good
order, peace and dignity thereof;

COUNT 38 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP with the offense of SOLICITATION OF
VIOLATION OF OATH BY PUBLIC OFFICER, O.C.G.A. §§ 16-4-7 and 16-10-1, for the
said accused, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on or about the 17th day of
September 2021, unlawfully solicited, requested, and importuned Georgia Secretary of State
Brad Raffensperger, a public officer, to engage in conduct constituting the felony offense of
Violation of Oath by Public Officer, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-1, by unlawfully “decertifying the
Election, or whatever the correct legal remedy is, and announce the true winner,” in willful and
intentional violation of the terms of the oath of said person as prescribed by law, with intent that
said person engage in said conduct, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and

dignity thereof;,
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COUNT 39 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DONALD JOHN TRUMP with the offense of FALSE STATEMENTS
AND WRITINGS, O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, for the said accused, in the County of Fulton and
State of Georgia, on or about the 17th day of September 2021, knowingly, willfully, and
unlawfully made the following false statement and representation to Georgia Secretary of State
Brad Raffensperger:

1. “As stated to you previously, the number of false and/or irregular votes is far greater than
needed to change the Georgia election result”;

said statement being within the jurisdiction of the Office of the Georgia Secretary of State and
the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, departments and agencies of state government, and county
and city law enforcement agencies, contrary to the laws of said State, the good order, peace and
dignity thereof;

COUNT 40 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse DAVID JAMES SHAFER with the offense of FALSE STATEMENTS
AND WRITINGS, 0.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, for the said accused, in the County of Fulton and
State of Georgia, on or about the 25th day of April 2022, knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully
made at least one of the following false statements and representations in the presence of Fulton
County District Attorney’s Office investigators:

1. That he “attended and convened” the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump presidential
elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia, but that he did not “call each of the
individual members and notify them of the meeting or make any of the other preparations
necessary for the meeting”;

2. That a court reporter was not present at the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump
presidential elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia;

said statements being within the jurisdiction of the Fulton County District Attorney’s Office, a

department and agency of the government of a county of this state, contrary to the laws of said
State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof; '
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COUNT 41 of 41

And the Grand Jurors aforesaid, in the name and behalf of the citizens of Georgia, do
charge and accuse ROBERT DAVID CHEELEY with the offense of PERJURY, O.C.G.A. §
16-10-70(a), for the said accused, in the County of Fulton and State of Georgia, on or about the
15th day of September 2022, knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully made at least one of the
following false statements before the Fulton County Special Purpose Grand Jury, a judicial
proceeding, after having been administered a lawful oath:

1. That he was unaware of the December 14, 2020, meeting of Trump presidential elector
nominees in Fulton County, Georgia, until after the meeting had already taken place;

2. That he had no substantive conversations with anyone concerning the December 14,
2020, meeting of Trump presidential elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia, until
after the meeting had already taken place;

3. That he never suggested to anyone that the Trump presidential elector nominees in
Georgia should meet on December 14, 2020;

4. That the only communication he had with John Eastman concerning the November 3,
2020, presidential election was for the purpose of connecting Eastman to Georgia Senator
Brandon Beach and unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8, whose identity is known to
the Grand Jury, for possible legal representation;

5. That he never worked to connect John Eastman with any Georgia legislators other than
Georgia Senator Brandon Beach and unindicted co-conspirator Individual 8, whose
identity is known to the Grand Jury;

said statements being material to the accused’s own involvement in the December 14, 2020,
meeting of Trump presidential elector nominees in Fulton County, Georgia, and to the accused’s

communications with others involved in said meeting, the issues in question, contrary to the laws
of said State, the good order, peace and dignity thereof.

FANI T. WILLIS, District Attorney
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|:|4. Greater than normal volume of evidence. |:| 9. Need for discovery outside United States boundaries.
D 5. Extended discovery period is needed. |:|10. Existence of highly technical issues and proof.

CONTINUED ON REVERSE

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
RECEIPT # AMOUNT $ APPLYING IFP MAG. JUDGE (IFP)

JUDGE, MAG. JUDGE NATURE OF SUIT CAUSE OF ACTION
(Referral)
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Case 1:23-cv-03621-SCJ Document 1-2 Filed 08/15/23 Page 2 of 2
VI NATURE OF SUIT (PLACE AN “X” IN ONE BOX ONLY)

CONTRACT - "0" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

CIVIL RIGHTS - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

1150 RECOVERY OF OVERPAYMENT &
ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENT
152 RECOVERY OF DEFAULTED STUDENT
LOANS (Excl. Veterans)
D 153 RECOVERY OF OVERPAYMENT OF
VETERAN'S BENEFITS

CONTRACT - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK
[J 110 INSURANCE
120 MARINE
130 MILLER ACT
] 140 NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENT
] 151 MEDICARE ACT
[ 160 STOCKHOLDERS' SUITS
] 190 OTHER CONTRACT
[ 195 CONTRACT PRODUCT LIABILITY
[ 196 FRANCHISE

REAL PROPERTY -"4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK
210 LAND CONDEMNATION
220 FORECLOSURE
230 RENT LEASE & EJECTMENT
[] 240 TORTS TO LAND
[] 245 TORT PRODUCT LIABILITY
[] 290 ALL OTHER REAL PROPERTY

TORTS - PERSONAL INJURY - "4" MONTHS
DISCOVERY TRACK
310 AIRPLANE
315 AIRPLANE PRODUCT LIABILITY
320 ASSAULT, LIBEL & SLANDER
330 FEDERAL EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY
340 MARINE
345 MARINE PRODUCT LIABILITY
350 MOTOR VEHICLE
355 MOTOR VEHICLE PRODUCT LIABILITY
360 OTHER PERSONAL INJURY
362 PERSONAL INJURY - MEDICAL
MALPRACTICE
[] 365 PERSONAL INJURY - PRODUCT LIABILITY
[ 367 PERSONAL INJURY - HEALTH CARE/
PHARMACEUTICAL PRODUCT LIABILITY
[] 368 ASBESTOS PERSONAL INJURY PRODUCT
LIABILITY

TORTS - PERSONAL PROPERTY - "4" MONTHS
DISCOVERY TRACK
370 OTHER FRAUD
[1371 TRUTH IN LENDING
380 OTHER PERSONAL PROPERTY DAMAGE
[] 385 PROPERTY DAMAGE PRODUCT LIABILITY

BANKRUPTCY - "0" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

[ 1422 APPEAL 28 USC 158
[ 423 WITHDRAWAL 28 USC 157

[ 440 OTHER CIVIL RIGHTS

[ 441 VOTING

[ 442 EMPLOYMENT

[] 443 HOUSING/ ACCOMMODATIONS

[] 445 AMERICANS with DISABILITIES - Employment
[] 446 AMERICANS with DISABILITIES - Other

] 448 EDUCATION

IMMIGRATION - "0" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK
[] 462 NATURALIZATION APPLICATION
[] 465 OTHER IMMIGRATION ACTIONS

PRISONER PETITIONS - "0" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK
[] 463 HABEAS CORPUS- Alien Detainee
[] 510 MOTIONS TO VACATE SENTENCE
530 HABEAS CORPUS
E 535 HABEAS CORPUS DEATH PENALTY
[] 540 MANDAMUS & OTHER
[ 550 CIVIL RIGHTS - Filed Pro se
[] 555 PRISON CONDITION(S) - Filed Pro se
[ 560 CIVIL DETAINEE: CONDITIONS OF
CONFINEMENT

PRISONER PETITIONS - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK

I I 550 CIVIL RIGHTS - Filed by Counsel

[] 555 PRISON CONDITION(S) - Filed by Counsel

FORFEITURE/PENALTY - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK
[ 625 DRUG RELATED SEIZURE OF PROPERTY
21 USC 881
[ 690 OTHER

LABOR - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK
[] 710 FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT
720 LABOR/MGMT. RELATIONS
740 RAILWAY LABOR ACT
E 751 FAMILY and MEDICAL LEAVE ACT
790 OTHER LABOR LITIGATION
E 791 EMPL. RET. INC. SECURITY ACT

PROPERTY RIGHTS - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK
T[] 820 COPYRIGHTS

] 840 TRADEMARK

] 880 DEFEND TRADE SECRETS ACT OF 2016 (DTSA)

PROPERTY RIGHTS - "8" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK
] 830 PATENT
D 835 PATENT-ABBREVIATED NEW DRUG
APPLICATIONS (ANDA) - a/k/a
Hatch-Waxman cases

SOCIAL SECURITY - "0" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK

1 861 HIA (1395ff)

[C] 862 BLACK LUNG (923)

[] 863 DIWC (405(g))

[ 863 DIWW (405(g))

864 SSID TITLE XVI
] 865 RsI (405(g))

EEDERAL TAX SUITS - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRAC

| 870 TAXES (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant)
871 IRS - THIRD PARTY 26 USC 7609

I'II'I|

OTHER STATUTES - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK
I I 375 FALSE CLAIMS ACT
376 Qui Tam 31 USC 3729(a)
400 STATE REAPPORTIONMENT
430 BANKS AND BANKING
450 COMMERCE/ICC RATES/ETC.
460 DEPORTATION
470 RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT
ORGANIZATIONS
480 CONSUMER CREDIT
485 TELEPHONE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT
490 CABLE/SATELLITE TV
890 OTHER STATUTORY ACTIONS
891 AGRICULTURAL ACTS
893 ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
895 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 899
899 ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT /
REVIEW OR APPEAL OF AGENCY DECISION
950 CONSTITUTIONALITY OF STATE STATUTES

0 000000 00000

OTHER STATUTES - "8" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK

410 ANTITRUST

850 SECURITIES / COMMODITIES / EXCHANGE

OTHER STATUTES - “0" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK

[ 89 ARBITRATION
(Confirm / Vacate / Order / Modify)

* PLEASE NOTE DISCOVERY
TRACK FOR EACH CASE
TYPE. SEE LOCAL RULE 26.3

VIl. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:

CHECK IF CLASS ACTION UNDER F.R.Civ.P. 23

DEMAND $

JURY DEMAND D YES D NO (CHECK YES ONLY IF DEMANDED IN COMPLAINT)

VIIIl. RELATED/REFILED CASE(S) IF ANY

JUDGE

DOCKET NO.

CIVIL CASES ARE DEEMED RELATED IF THE PENDING CASE INVOLVES: (CHECK APPROPRIATE BOX)
CJ1. PROPERTY INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.
[]2. SAME ISSUE OF FACT OR ARISES OUT OF THE SAME EVENT OR TRANSACTION INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.

[13. VALIDITY OR INFRINGEMENT OF THE SAME PATENT, COPYRIGHT OR TRADEMARK INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.
[ 4. APPEALS ARISING OUT OF THE SAME BANKRUPTCY CASE AND ANY CASE RELATED THERETO WHICH HAVE BEEN DECIDED BY THE SAME

BANKRUPTCY JUDGE.

[15. REPETITIVE CASES FILED BY PRO SE LITIGANTS.
[J6. COMPANION OR RELATED CASE TO CASE(S) BEING SIMULTANEOUSLY FILED (INCLUDE ABBREVIATED STYLE OF OTHER CASE(S)):

[J7. EITHER SAME OR ALL OF THE PARTIES AND ISSUES IN THIS CASE WERE PREVIOUSLY INVOLVED IN CASE NO.

DISMISSED. Thiscase [1 1S ] 1S NOT (check one box) SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME CASE.

, WHICH WAS

SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD

DATE
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